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HE MIHI  
CHAIR’S REPORT

UCOL in its many forms has been  
part of the community for more than a  
century. It is a stable and proud example 
of a successful Institute of Technology 
and Polytechnic. We have a rich heritage 
and much to contribute to the future of 
vocational learning. 

2019 was a fast-paced year, with a focus 

on innovation and readying UCOL for 

the Reform of Vocational Education 

led by the Minister of Education. 

Our Council is confident that UCOL’s 

strengths will contribute to the design 

processes related to the reforms, and 

the transition in 2020 and beyond. 

In November, UCOL Council member 

Lyal French-Wright stood aside from his 

role on the Council to work alongside 

the Senior Leadership Team as Chief 

of Operations while Chief Executive Dr 

Lynn took sabbatical leave. 

The wellbeing of UCOL staff is a priority 

for the UCOL Council, and during the 

year our regular visits to campuses 

and discussions with teams of staff 

were well attended and enlightening. 

Graduation remains a highlight of the 

UCOL calendar, with an opportunity 

to express our congratulations to 

graduates and celebrate with them.

I am privileged to lead a wonderful team 

of committed and enquiring councillors. 

By 31 March 2020 we will deliver UCOL 

to the New Zealand Institute of Skills 

& Technology (working title NZ IST) in 

a ready state. UCOL is an established 

Institute of Technology and Polytechnic 

with a longstanding presence in the 

community and strong partnerships 

with iwi. It has strong financials capable 

of supporting capital and investment 

in future vocational education. The 

UCOL team of 420 talented educators 

and professional staff have my respect 

as they continue to perform at their 

personal and collective best for 

students, our regions and industry. 

As we look forward, we are focused on 

a bigger, better and brighter future for 

vocational education in the UCOL rohe.

BEN VANDERKOLK  
Chair

“ Whaea te iti kahurangi, ki te 
tuohu koe me he maunga teitei 

Seek the things that are most 
valuable, if you bow your head 

let it be to a lofty mountain”
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CHIEF OF OPERATIONS 
REPORT 

The NZ IST aims to unify the vocational 

education sector, with industry 

being much more dominant to effect 

workforce plans. This will mean we 

provide students with the education 

needed to meet regional and national 

requirements. UCOL’s position was one 

of support for the reforms, and we have 

worked hard to be in a ready state for 

the 1 April 2020 start date.

There was a considerable amount 

of consultation and engagement 

throughout 2019 to prepare for the 

reforms, collaborating with the Ministry 

of Education, the Tertiary Education 

Commission, the Ministry of Business, 

Innovation and Employment and  

NZ IST. 

This measured acceptance of change 

was reflected in the positive approach 

taken by staff to ensure our learners 

were given every support to achieve 

their goals and begin new projects that 

will bring long-term benefits. With this 

in mind, it was very reassuring to have 

PwC independently review UCOL’s 

financial system and provide a big tick.

The Institute of Technology and 

Polytechnic sector faced some major 

headwinds this year, with the number 

of students enrolling in polytechnics 

continuing to fall nationwide. For 

UCOL, this meant we recorded a loss 

on operations for the first time in 11 

years, due to revenue from enrolments 

being behind that forecast. Through 

prudent management of costs, we 

managed to claw back close to $2 

million. Despite this loss, our cash 

position improved and at the end 

of the year the Council approved a 

reinvestment budget for 2020. The 

funds will support an increase in 

staffing, extra maintenance of facilities, 

and operational improvements. They 

include a budget of $4.3 million for the 

purpose-built Healthcare and Social 

Assistance building on the Manawatū 

campus, which is a significant 

investment for the region.

The Council has worked diligently to 

have UCOL in a ready state for 1 April 

2020 before the new reform structure 

of subsidiary boards. I congratulate 

our Chair, Ben Vanderkolk, and his 

councillors for their strong governance 

in putting UCOL in an excellent 

position for 2020. 2019 was a testing 

year for the UCOL Council on many 

fronts, and its members can be pleased 

with what was achieved.

Developing new relationships was at 

the fore throughout 2019:

• New agreements were developed 

with Saigon Institute of Technology, 

the New Zealand Defence College 

(NZDF), the Urban Vocational 

College of Sichuan, Heytour Group 

Holding, Manawatū Rugby and  

the Homecare Association of  

New Zealand

• Industry engagement led to the 

development of two new degree 

programmes, the Bachelor of 

Applied Science (Laboratory 

Science) and the Bachelor of Social 

Services from 2020

• Restoration plans for Te Amorangi 

Wharenui on our Wairarapa campus 

were initiated

• UCOL began delivering English 

language courses with the Urban 

Vocational College of Sichuan, 

which has campuses in Chengdu 

and Meishan

• We have signalled our interest  

in returning to primary-sector 

training and  are planning to  

host some of the Centres of 

Vocational Excellence as part of  

the tertiary reform.

2019 will be remembered as the year the 
Minister of Education, Hon Chris Hipkins, 
introduced the Reform of Vocational Education 
in New Zealand. This change to vocational 
education has obvious impacts on UCOL and 
the other 15 existing Institutes of Technology 
and Polytechnics, as well as the Industry 
Training Organisations and Private Training 
Establishments. By the end of the year, those 
close to the reform were preparing for the new 
structure and the opportunities it presents for 
our rohe to meet future workforce needs.
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UCOL has high regard for our iwi 

partners, and the Te Mataora Iwi 

consortia brings iwi education 

authorities, Pasifika peoples and UCOL 

together. Our focus on and support for 

Māori and Pasifika students remain 

strong, and in 2019 educational 

performance indicators showed the 

gap was closing to achieve parity with 

all students. 

This year we formalised our 

relationship with Te Rūnanga o Ngā 

Wairiki Ngāti Apa. This goes beyond 

the Crown-iwi relationship and is one 

of both friendship and partnership with 

a shared vision for the development 

of people. We have great respect for 

each other and our shared purpose. 

The aim is to encourage new growth 

and development opportunities in 

educational, economic, cultural, social 

and environmental areas for whānau 

living in the region.

Upgrading our infrastructure to 

address seismic requirements involves 

continued engineering assessments 

to ensure it is fit for purpose, meaning 

some of our facilities are currently 

out of action. We also need to ensure 

we have a modern teaching space for 

staff, which requires a large capital 

investment across our four campuses. 

We are proud to have a strong 

reputation for providing a supportive 

and caring environment for 

international students, and this 

includes ongoing considerations 

around visa requirements. 

A major development in 2019 was the 

approval to restructure the leadership 

of our Wairarapa campus. This will give 

us the ability to make more decisions 

on site, supported by the continuing 

technical expertise of our Manawatū-

based faculty leaders and team. This 

is an exciting investment in a positive 

future for the Wairarapa community. 

The first Wairarapa Director is Berni 

Pothan, who will be joined by a Deputy 

Director Operations and a Deputy 

Director Academic in early 2020.

I believe UCOL is in a strong position 

heading into the reforms in 2020. This 

has been made possible through the 

efforts of our skilled and dedicated 

staff, our supportive whānau, 

community and stakeholders and an 

active and committed Board. 

Congratulations to you all.

 

Lyal French-Wright 
Chief of Operations

5,868
STUDENTS

$46.3M
IN REVENUE

2 NEW
DEGREES IN 
DEVELOPMENT

INCREASE IN

MĀORI
STUDENTS  COURSE
COMPLETION FROM 2018

EFTS FROM 2018
INTERNATIONAL

6.2%
INCREASE IN

500
U-SKILLS ACADEMY STUDENTS 

MORE 
THAN 05
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OUR HISTORY

We have a long 
standing history  
and are dedicated  
to our rohe.

Over the years we have operated  

and evolved under a number of  

names, adapting to the needs of our 

students and the wider community.

APRIL 1ST 2020

UCOL LIMITED

NEW ZEALAND INSTITUTE OF SKILLS AND TECHNOLOGY

TECHNICAL SCHOOLS FOUNDED

MERGED TO BECOME UCOL

1892
Whanganui

1896
Wairarapa

1902
Palmerston North

1987
Horowhenua 

(Campus of Manawatu 
Polytechnic)

2002
Technical College

Regional Community 
College

2001
Seddon Memorial

 Wairarapa Community 
Polytechnic

1998
Queen Elizabeth  

College

Technical Institute

1998
Manawatu  

Polytechnic
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ABOUT UCOL

UCOL is a high 
performing 
government funded 
Institute of Technology 
and Polytechnic, 
covering a large 
geographic area of the 
lower North Island. 

We provide tertiary education to 

approximately  5,868 students 

a year and have campuses in 

Whanganui, Manawatū, Wairarapa 

and Horowhenua. Programmes 

are also delivered in Taumarunui, 

Dannevirke and Otaki. 

We are committed to supporting 

learning in our regions and deliver 

this with a diverse offering of 

in-school, in-work fulltime and 

community education pathways. 

Our acclaimed U-Skills programme 

helps students gain real-life industry 

experience while working towards 

their NCEA credits. We also deliver 

adult and community education, 

which includes free refresher courses 

to help our communities become 

life-long learners. UCOL students 

can graduate with certificates, 

diplomas and degrees.

STUDENTS BY CAMPUS

Manawatū3,645

Whanganui979

Horowhenua199

Wairarapa555

TANZ eCampus490

EFTS BY FUNDING SOURCE

TEC SAC2,460

International222

Adult & Community 
Education

68

Trade Academy133

Other56

Youth Gaurantee94

Dual Pathways0

FOUNDED IN
1892 Whanganui
1896 Wairarapa 
1902 Manawatū 
1987 Horowhenua

4 CAMPUSES 
across the  
North Island

5,868 
STUDENTS
and 3,033 EFTS

GOVERNMENT 
FUNDED 
Institute of 
Technology  
and Polytechnic 
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NGĀ UARA 
OUR VALUES

WHANAUNGATANGA

RELATIONSHIPS

TE HURINGA TANGATA 

TRANSFORMATION

KIA EKE PANUKU, 
EKE TANGAROA

EXCELLENCE

KIA KAKAMĀ

AGILITY

Connecting with people and establishing meaningful 

relationships built on trust and integrity is vital. Great 

relationships result in collaboration, partnerships and 

unity. At UCOL we embrace diversity and the inclusivity 

of all people. Relationships form between students, staff, 

employers and support networks in our communities, 

weaving a strong and positive structure that nurtures.

Transformation requires inspiration and bold, courageous 

behaviour. We take pride in being a part of the transformation 

that occurs in our students as they become successful 

graduates and alumni. As staff we seek to use our multiple 

talents to continuously improve and grow. UCOL is always 

looking at fresh ideas, becoming bigger, better and brighter.

Everywhere we look at UCOL we see the innovation and 

qualities that define us as a high-performing institute. 

We strive for excellence in our programmes, our teaching 

methods, our resources, our campus environments and our 

systems and processes. We want to see people excelling at 

what they do. We are proud of what we achieve.

We work in many different ways; we are adaptable and 

agile in the way we work with others. Through engagement, 

empowerment and innovation, we develop deeper 

understanding and discover new ways of achieving our goals.

Our core values represent UCOL as a whole. UCOL’s values are  
grounded in the meaningful connections we have with each other  
and with students, iwi Māori, industry and communities. Our four  
key values continue to guide everything we do. 

These are: Relationships, Excellence, Transformation and Agility.
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TUITUI 
TĀNGATA

OUR PEOPLE
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OUR TEAM

UCOL COUNCIL

CHAIR 
Mr Ben Vanderkolk LLB Appointed by the Minister

DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON 
Miss Leanne Southey BBS FCA  Appointed by the Minister

COUNCILLORS 
Ms Verne Atmore BAgCom  Council Appointment 

Ms Lynette Bradnam DipTchg MEd Council Appointment (nominated by Iwi Māori) 

Ms Leonie Hapeta BBS MBS  Council Appointment 

Mr Lyal French-Wright BSc  Appointed by the Minister

Ms Annette Main ONZM  Appointed by the Minister

UCOL LEADERSHIP TEAM

Dr Lynn BA PG Dip Bus PhD  Chief Executive 

Mr Lyal French-Wright BSC  Chief of Operations ( from 6 November 2019)

Ms Christine Beech BApplMgmt MPRINZ  Director Public Relations and Communications 

Dr Arthur Chin JP, DBA, MA, FFin, BCA (Hons) PhD  Executive Director Business Development 

Ms Gianetta Lapsley BHortSci MEdAdminLead  Executive Director Quality 

Mr Teina Mataira BA PostGradDipTchg Pouārahi-Director of Māori and Pacific Peoples Education 

Dr Jerry Shearman BPhED MSc PhD QTS  Executive Director Education and Applied Research 

Mr Brian Trott BBS CA Chief Financial Officer 

Dr Nicky Van der Bergh BS Bth MTS DMTh PhD  Executive Director Student Success (until 27 September 2019)

Ms Meredith Blackler BA PostGradDip Human Resources Executive Director People and Safety (until 12 July 2019)
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OUR STAFF

At UCOL we value our skilled and committed staff, who are  
engaged to deliver our vision of inspiring students, businesses  
and communities to succeed.

We believe our mission – to develop 

great graduates who make a difference 

wherever they work in the world – 

should be lived at UCOL, and we enjoy 

recognising excellence and investing in 

staff development.

Providing an environment where 

individuals can develop their lives and 

careers is at the heart of what we do, 

and this is as true for our staff as it is 

for our students. We embrace diversity, 

talent and performance.

Our employees come from a wide 

range of backgrounds – some from 

within industry who are keen to pass 

on their knowledge, and others with 

existing academic and professional 

backgrounds. Students at UCOL 

learn from staff who care about the 

success of UCOL and their students, 

and who are dual professionals – not 

just teachers, but also experts in their 

fields. Their ongoing connections 

with industry mean that UCOL’s 

programmes prepare students to  

find their places in the community  

and economy.

Workshops were also held to ensure 

targeted capability building in the 

following areas:

• Treaty of Waitangi

• Mental health first aid

• Professional boundaries

• Enhancing student learning through 

effective teaching

• Leaders growing leaders

• Self-managing teams

• Training in employment 

investigations 

• Lockdown training. O
U

R
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EO
PL

E

15



QUALITY RECOGNITION 
AWARDS

EXCELLENCE IN 
LEADERSHIP AWARD 

Recipient: Dr Bridget Percy 
Over several years Bridget has led the 

development and implementation of 

the Early Childhood Education and 

Care programmes of study – now at 

three levels, at four locations. In-home 

providers were the latest to benefit 

in semester two 2019, when an online 

offering was organised due to the 

students’ daytime work commitments. 

More widely, Bridget has lent her 

leadership skills to research and 

knowledge-transfer activities, external 

stakeholder relationships, and ensuring 

the School of Education runs smoothly. 

Bridget has done this by demonstrating 

UCOL’s values, leading by example in 

the implementation of the Teaching 

and Learning Strategy, and setting and 

achieving visionary goals. 

EXCELLENCE IN SERVICE 
PROVISION AWARD

Recipient: Whanganui Campus 
Student Success Team
The Whanganui Student Success team 

members are recognised for continual 

improvement in the educational 

outcomes of the students using their 

services. The team monitor educational 

performance achievements to measure 

the success of their services and 

have some outstanding educational 

achievement evidence. The team use 

Te Atākura principles of Manaakitanga 

(support and respect), Ako (teaching 

and learning), Whanaungatanga 

(a family-like setting in learning 

situations), Kotahitanga (unity and 

shared purpose), Wānanga (rich, 

dynamic sharing of knowledge) and 

Mana motuhake (high expectations) 

when working with all students and 

are active participants in Teachers’ 

Community of Practice processes. 

They work closely with Raukura (our 

team that supports our Māori students 

in their learning) in the same way to 

provide a seamless and connected 

service for students. This demonstrates 

a special achievement in meeting 

student needs and facilitating ongoing 

support for and cooperative activity 

between different UCOL teams, and 

an overwhelming commitment to the 

quality of work and UCOL’s values.

EXCELLENCE IN 
TEACHING AND 
LEARNING AWARD

Recipient: UCOL Beauty 
Services Teaching Team 
The UCOL Beauty Services Teaching 

team, in receiving the Teaching and 

Learning Award, celebrated their 

dedication and special achievement in 

the planning, design and d elivery of 

2019 teaching and learning, and their 

demonstrated leadership by example 

to the whole of UCOL. 

They have exemplified the deepest 

fulfilment of all UCOL’s values in their 

work and excelled in 2019, a year that 

they and many others will always recall 

with warmth due to their personal and 

collective professional efforts to offer 

support for a terminally ill colleague. 

The student experience was solid and 

innovative and student achievement 

high through the coordinated efforts 

of the Teaching team across multiple 

programmes and sites.

A sponsor noted, “UCOL is a better 

place for their efforts. They have gone 

far beyond what we would expect but, 

in another sense, this is exactly what 

we expect of each other – certainly 

what we desire of each other.”

The winners of the UCOL Quality Recognition Awards have demonstrated 
their commitment to UCOL’s values while going above and beyond in the 
work they do.

Image of Dr Bridget Percy and Lyal  
French-Wright

Whanganui Campus Student Success Team with 
Lyal French-Wright

UCOL Beauty Services Teaching Team with Lyal 
French-Wright
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OUR STUDENTS

TE ATIHAUNUI
-A-PĀPĀRANGI

(WHANGANUI)

NGĀPUHI
TE TAI TOKERAU 

TAMAKI MAKAKAURAU 
(NORTHLAND/AUCKLAND)

NGĀTI POROU
TE TAIRĀWHITI (EAST COAST)

5,868
STUDENTS

60 40GENDER
%

388 INTERNATIONAL

STUDENTS

161 IWI
MĀORI GRADUATES

IDENTIFY FROM

WITH THE MAJORITY IDENTIFYING WITH

30%

MĀORI1

STUDENTS IDENTIFY AS

5.5%

PACIFIC  
PEOPLES

STUDENTS IDENTIFY AS

52.9% 647
STUDENTS ARE 
UNDER 252

STUDENTS WITH 
DISABILITIES 

1 Students who only identify as Māori
2 Based on student headcount
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DUTCH STUDENTS GET 
KIWI EXPERIENCE 
Students from the Rotterdam 

University of Applied Sciences 

(Netherlands) arrived in Palmerston 

North in mid-October as part of 

their Beyond Borders programme 

– contributing to UCOL’s strong 

international relationships.

Beyond Borders allows Rotterdam 

students to travel to different countries 

and work on projects addressing 

health-related inequalities in the local 

communities. They completed this 

under the supervision of UCOL.

One team of students investigated ways 

UCOL could recruit and retain Māori 

students in the Health Sciences, while 

the other team researched the assistive 

technology available for people with 

disabilities in New Zealand. 

The students presented their 

projects to UCOL staff in mid-

December, as well as reporting 

their findings to classmates and 

teachers when they returned home. 

UCOL Exercise and Wellness Lecturer 

Farzanah Desai, who supervised 

the team investigating Māori 

student retention, says their outside 

perspective was incredibly valuable. 

“It was refreshing to have students 

from a different culture, context and 

environment give their perspectives on 

New Zealand education,” says Farzanah.

Farzanah says the students 

really embraced Māori culture, 

learning waiata (songs) and visiting 

Kauwhata Marae in Feilding.

Student Jort van der Slujjs says the 

mihi whakatau (welcome speech) 

that UCOL did to welcome the 

group on arrival was a highlight.

“We started off with a very warm 

welcome and were introduced to 

Māori culture right away. There is 

more of a social feel in New Zealand, 

whereas in the Netherlands it is more 

individual. That was cool to see.”

The opportunity came about 

after UCOL Construction Lecturer 

Marius Dryfout put a Rotterdam 

contact in touch with UCOL. 

UCOL and the Rotterdam 

University of Applied Sciences 

are finalising a memorandum of 

understanding to explore closer 

collaboration in the future.

2019 STANDOUTS
A highlight of the year for students, 

staff, businesses and our wider 

community was UCOL’s Public 

Lecture Series. The series featured 

four stunning speakers – kicking 

off with Instagram sensation Ruby 

Lee discussing her first trip from 

Australia to New Zealand in ‘Owning 

your Own Side Hustle’. In July 2020 

New Zealander of the Year Jennifer 

Ward-Lealand Te Atamira inspired 

many with her celebration of te reo 

Māori. Ian Cleary from Australia 

spoke thoughtfully about ‘The Pain 

Revolution – Ditching Management 

for Recovery’, and Kiwi actor and 

lawyer Blair Strang shared his 

story of balancing two careers with 

fatherhood. The series attracted 

significant interest and momentum 

throughout the year and was well 

received by all involved.

Key initiatives to engage new 

learners at UCOL included 

strengthening partnership 

relationships with the New Zealand 

Defence Force, which saw 19 

learners across all the uniformed 

services enrolling, primarily in the 

Bachelor of Applied Management 

via the Centre of Assessment of 

Prior Learning process, recognising 

skills they had learnt while serving. 

In preparation for 2020 we have 

developed two new degree 

programmes – the Bachelor of 

Applied Science (Laboratory 

Science) and the Bachelor of Social 

Services. The Social Services 

degree has already attracted strong 

interest from prospective students, 

which mirrors the high industry 

demand for new staff. 

Rotterdam students
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MATTHEW 
CHRISTOPHERS: 
BACHELOR OF 
INFORMATION AND 
COMMUNICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY GRADUATE
Matthew Christophers knew he wanted 

to work in software development after 

spending a day with FMG’s software 

developers while working there as an 

insurance consultant. Three years later, 

after completing study at UCOL, he’s 

back at FMG doing exactly that.

Matthew chose to study UCOL’s 

Bachelor of Information and 

Communications Technology (ICT) 

because the programme’s structure 

allowed him to plan his studies easily 

over three years. 

Matthew says the programme gave 

him broad ICT skills before he focused 

on his major in software engineering. 

“In the first year they give you a taste 

of absolutely everything, and then you 

start specialising as you get further 

into the programme.

“When you’re applying for software 

development jobs, a lot of the 

programming languages employers 

look for are stuff that I learnt at 

UCOL. The lecturers definitely 

make sure you study things 

that relate to employment.”

A highlight for Matthew was his 

third-year internship with FMG. There 

he developed a prototype artificial 

intelligence chatbot to help the Claims 

Lodgement team resolve customer 

enquiries more quickly. The chatbot 

is full of policy information and other 

resources that users can find quickly 

by typing questions. 

“It’s like having Facebook Messenger, 

but you’re messaging a bot that is full 

of hundreds of pages of policy wording, 

quick reference cards, templates, email 

formats, and everything to make life 

easy,” says Matthew. 

Because it actively learns from its 

interactions, Matthew’s chatbot learnt 

more than 1,600 questions and 8,000 

different phrases during his four-

month internship.

FMG loved Matthew’s chatbot so much 

that it employed him as a Software 

Developer, to continue his work in the 

artificial intelligence space. Matthew 

has since changed roles to Developer 

Analyst and is looking forward to the 

many opportunities this brings.

Matthew says he enjoys the 

problem-solving involved in software 

development, and the sense of 

achievement when he finds solutions. 

“I think software is 
great because code 
often doesn’t work 
how you want it 
to at the start, so 
you have to figure 
it out and then 
you feel a sense of 
accomplishment when 
it starts working.”

Matthew Christophers
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OUR ALUMNI

PĀTAKA KŌRERO
Pātaka Korero, our customer relationship management system, 

allows us to strengthen our communications with current students, 
prospective students and other crucial stakeholders.

In 2019, Pātaka Kōrero helped us with our 2018-2020 Alumni 
Engagement Plan, encouraging graduates to maintain ties to UCOL.

27,667

TOTAL ALUMNI
SINCE 2004

GRADUATES

16,788
10,879
GRADUATES UNDER 25

GRADUATES OVER 25

2,633
UNDER 25 SINCE 2004
TOTAL GRADUATES

57 43GENDER
%

MĀORI

517
UNDER 25 SINCE 2004
TOTAL GRADUATES

53 47GENDER
%

PACIFIC PEOPLES
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PAIGE MACDONALD: 
DESIGN AND ARTS 
GRADUATE
While studying at UCOL Whanganui, 

Paige MacDonald presented her work at 

New Zealand Fashion Week. 

Paige (Ngāti Kahungunu ki Heretaunga, 

Ngāti Raukawa) got her first taste of 

sewing and working with fabrics while 

at intermediate school. This grew into 

a passion for designing clothing and 

eventually led to her enrolling in UCOL’s 

Bachelor of Design and Arts majoring in 

Textiles/Fashion Design.

The programme introduced Paige to a 

range of new techniques and helped her 

to see her ideas from a new perspective.

In the third year of her degree, Paige 

was selected for New Zealand Fashion 

Week’s Miromoda Showcase, which 

includes work by established and 

emerging Māori designers and helped 

her gain insights into the industry.

Paige’s New Zealand Fashion Week 

collection was inspired by an image 

of the Assumption of Mary, and was 

made of drapey, oversized clothing with 

modern cuts, silhouettes and fabrics. 

“It was great seeing what kind of work 

goes on behind the scenes of shows 

that size, from the designers to the 

production teams.

“It was cool to get advice from other 

designers and companies about the 

kind of styles to keep pushing. I built 

contacts with people in the media  

and other designers who would like  

to collaborate.”

Having graduated in 2019, Paige now 

runs her own clothing design and 

alteration business, Nola Fashion By 

Paige. Her main interest is designing 

wedding attire, but she also undertakes 

alterations and designs children’s 

clothing and custom pieces for her 

growing clientele. 

2020 is shaping up to be a busy year 

for Paige. She is designing wedding 

dresses and outfits for children in the 

bridal parties of four weddings and is 

studying to become a secondary school 

teacher at Bethlehem Tertiary Institute 

to pass on her knowledge to the next 

generation of fashion designers.

“I’ve always wanted to teach, so I’m 

studying to become a textiles and design 

teacher alongside building my business.”

RAPHAEL SA’U: 
EXERCISE AND SPORT 
SCIENCE GRADUATE
Studying Exercise and Sport Science at 

UCOL gave Raphael Sa’u the opportunity 

to work with real clients alongside 

developing his own sport skills. 

A keen rugby player, Raphael wanted to 

study a subject that would complement 

his love of sports. UCOL’s hands-on 

learning style was perfect for him. 

During his time at UCOL Raphael 

took on a placement at his old school, 

Palmerston North Boys’ High School. He 

worked with the Sports Development 

Programme to design and coordinate 

training sessions for the top Year 9 and 

10 athletes.

“We focused on the athletes’ growth; 

making sure their muscles were working 

efficiently, they were moving well 

and they were preventing injuries. It 

was cool because I want to work with 

athletes as a career.” 

Another highlight was running 

exercise sessions for the residents at 

Metlifecare Retirement Village along 

with his classmates. 

“We had to come from training athletes 

really hard to bring it right down to simple 

exercises. I loved it because the residents 

were really passionate about it.” 

Raphael also had the opportunity to 

observe an All Blacks gym session, after 

reaching out to their Head Strength and 

Conditioning Coach, Dr Nic Gill.

Raphael was introduced to weightlifting 

by UCOL Lecturer Hayden Prichard. 

As a member of the weightlifting club, 

Raphael competed and coached in a 

number of competitions. “I fell in love 

with it because of how technical it was, 

and it was new and challenging.”

Raphael says studying Exercise and 

Sports Science has helped him a lot 

with his own sports. 

“It has given me knowledge on when to 

train and what kind of training I should 

be doing in certain parts of the year. 

The main thing I’ve learnt is how the 

body works; the science behind it is 

quite amazing.”

Raphael is now juggling multiple 

jobs. At Palmerston North Boys’ 

High School, he is the Head Strength 

and Conditioning Coach of the 1st 

XV rugby team, a teacher aide and 

a mentor and trainer in the Physical 

Education department. On top of that, 

Raphael works as a Recreation Centre 

Supervisor at IPU, and trains clients 

through his own business Hardcore 

Strength and Fitness, which he started 

while at UCOL. 

Raphael’s next goal is to help Palmerston 

North Boys’ High School win its first 

national rugby championship.

As a proud Samoan, Raphael hopes 

that he can inspire more young Pacific 

Islanders to take up tertiary education. 

“Hopefully if they see Pacific Islanders 

like me making it and graduating, they 

can think they can do it as well.”
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UCOL ALUMNI  
AWARDS

Recipient: Ryan 
Serrano
Ryan graduated 

from UCOL with a 

Postgraduate Diploma 

in Computer Graphic 

Design in 2016. He is 

now a Senior 3D Artist at 

Weta Workshop, where 

he has worked on several 

international films.

Alice Hocquard 
Alice graduated with 

a Bachelor of Applied 

Visual Imaging in 2014 

and now owns and 

operates popular bakery 

BABCO (Brick Artisan 

Bread Company), as 

well as a photography/

videography company 

and sunglass brand with 

her partner.

Recipient: Linda 
Jenkinson
Linda is one of the 

country’s most 

successful entrepreneurs 

and was the first New 

Zealand woman to 

list a company on 

the NASDAQ stock 

exchange.

Mark Easton 
Mark is a former UCOL 

Information Analyst 

who founded successful 

Palmerston North-based 

IT company Nodero. 

Mark actively supports 

UCOL’s ICT programmes 

and graduates. 

UCOL ALUMNI ACHIEVEMENT AWARD

This award may be granted to a UCOL alumnus for significant accomplishments  
in their business or professional life, demonstrated by: making a contribution to 
business/industry; standing out in their chosen profession; and showing success  
in their occupation or chosen endeavours.
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Recipient: Braidie 
Heberley 
Braidie graduated from 

UCOL with a National 

Certificate in Early 

Childhood Education 

and Care in 2009. She is 

Lead Educator at Ko Te 

Aroha Children’s Centre 

in Wairarapa and is 

spearheading a national 

pilot programme for 

children who have been 

through trauma. 

Recipient: 
Arios Toa
Arios graduated from 

UCOL with a Bachelor 

of Exercise and Sports 

Science in 2017 and a 

Postgraduate Diploma 

in Clinical Exercise 

Physiology in 2018, and 

now runs his own health 

and fitness business 

Toa Hauora. His work in 

community health has 

inspired many. 

UCOL YOUNG ALUMNI AWARD

This award may be granted to an alumnus 
aged 35 or younger at time of nomination, 
for significant accomplishments in business 
or professional life or for service to the 
community or nation – demonstrated by: 
having dedicated time to work with the 
community/society or individuals; showing 
leadership skills; and using forward planning 
for their current and future success.

KAIARATAKI ALUMNI  
LEADER AWARD

This award is presented to a UCOL 
alumnus who exemplifies ‘making a 
difference’ and is inspirational for 
their role in enhancing the lives of 
people in our community through 
health, social needs, sustainability 
and growth.
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HONORARY FELLOW AWARD

This award may be granted to an individual who has demonstrated an outstanding and 
noteworthy contribution to the wellbeing and benefit of society, UCOL and/or their field of 
endeavour. This award is UCOL’s highest honorary award and reserved for those individuals 
whose contributions go well beyond the norm or what is expected of them by their 
occupations or professions. 

HONORARY ASSOCIATE

This award may be granted to an 
individual who has made a significant 
contribution, over and above 
normal duties, to UCOL or the wider 
community of which UCOL is a part.

UCOL COUNCIL 
HONOURS AWARDS

Recipient:  
Dr Janice Wenn 
Dr Janice Wenn has been 

involved with health 

service development and 

delivery for more than 

60 years, including many 

years as a nurse. She 

has been instrumental 

in addressing and 

improving healthcare 

access for Māori 

throughout her career.

Recipient: Allan 
MacGibbon
Allan is a long-time 

champion of education, 

tourism and economic 

growth for Whanganui. 

His experience includes 

a lengthy tenure as 

Economic Development 

Manager and Airport 

Manager at Whanganui 

District Council.

Recipient:  
Dr Heather Grady
As the founder and Chair 

of Outdoor Training NZ, 

Heather ensures the public 

has practical skills and safety 

training for New Zealand’s 

unique environment. She 

has coordinated outdoor 

education programmes for 

many years, as well as being 

dedicated to her role as 

UCOL’s Programme Leader 

for Veterinary Nursing and 

Applied Science. 
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Recipient: Gene 
Lewis-Clarke 
Gene has made an extensive 

contribution to community 

health, lecturing in Nursing 

across UCOL’s campuses 

throughout his career. He 

has been instrumental 

in organising marae 

experiences and hui for 

UCOL’s students and was 

made a life member of Te 

Kaunihera o Ngā Neehi 

Māori in 2018. 

Recipient: Margaret 
Woodbridge
Margaret worked as 

Nursing Lecturer at 

UCOL for 27 years, where 

she helped establish the 

New Zealand National 

Nanny Certificate and 

the Registered Nurse 

to Bachelor of Nursing 

programme in India.

Recipient: 
Lance Funnell
A UCOL Senior 

Automotive Lecturer, 

Lance has an 

excellent approach 

to relationships with 

stakeholders in the 

automotive sector, 

building on his 20 

years’ experience in the 

industry. 

Recipient: Pam 
Gatchell
Pam spent 20 years 

educating students on safe 

laboratory skills and good 

workplace practices during 

her time as a Chemistry 

Technician at UCOL. In 

2008 Pam received the 

Julia Camden Award for her 

outstanding contribution 

to Organisational 

Development and Support 

at UCOL.

INSTITUTIONAL MEDAL 

This award may be granted to past or present employees of UCOL who have made significant 
contributions to UCOL or their fields of endeavour, over and above normal duties.

Recipient: Trevor 
Shailer MNZM
Trevor has been 

recognised as one of 

New Zealand’s top 

amateur boxers and 

has since had a long 

and successful career 

in management. He 

is currently the Chief 

Executive of Sport 

Manawatū.

Recipient:  
Dr David Shillington
Dr David Shillington was 

a long-time Associate 

Professor of Chemistry and 

Science at UCOL and spent 

time as Head of School - 

Applied Health Sciences. 

A passionate teacher and 

active researcher, David 

has also given his time 

to many initiatives that 

further promote science in 

our community. 

HONORARY ASSOCIATES CONTINUED
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EQUAL EDUCATION 
OPPORTUNITIES
In order for our students to succeed, they must be in the right 
programmes at the right time and be supported as they progress  
through their studies. 

UCOL believes the study journey starts 

with the first touch – whether that is 

a UCOL person or collateral – which 

usually occurs well before a student 

arrives at one of our campuses. 

Subject-matter experts and our 

engagement team pay careful attention to 

providing students with the information 

they need to make sound choices, and 

we have established communication 

channels that are in many cases 

bespoke to each given programme.

In addition to having academic support, 

many students engage in  

pre-enrolment conversations  

(Kōrero Process) to identify interests 

and existing skills and be placed  

in the best programmes to meet their 

expectations. This support continues 

once they are enrolled to optimise  

their ability to succeed. Ongoing 

support is provided through a mix  

of subject-matter experts teaching  

our learners, the various student 

academic support mechanisms through 

our Student Success team, and targeted 

support for priority leaners, including 

Māori and Pasifika learners and our 

dual-enrolment students through the 

U-skills Academy (trades academy).

We continue to provide as many 

opportunities as we can for prospective 

and returning students to engage with 

UCOL through information evenings, 

meetings and whānau hui.

WAHINE TAUIRA IN 
TRADES EXCEEDS 
EXPECTATIONS 
The number of wahine (women) in 

trades is expanding thanks to UCOL’s 

programmes  and support to 

address gender inequality in 

the respective areas.

A growing number of 

wahine are taking part 

in Te Mataroa – Māori 

and Pasifika Trades 

Training – across 

UCOL campuses.  

Programmes take 

place in Manawatū, 

Horowhenua, 

Wairarapa and Whanganui, as  

well as Taumarunui.

In the first quarter of 2019, wahine 

tauira participation levels were  

at just over 44% – well above the  

40% target.

Teina Mataira, Pouārahi Māori  

and Pacific Peoples Education Group at 

UCOL, said his team worked hard to lift 

the participation of wahine in trades.

“We were delighted to exceed  

our targets. While each trade is 

still facing a gender imbalance, it 

is pleasing to see overall numbers 

are beginning to even out and a 

growing trend of wahine coming 

through the trades,” Teina said. 

“We are not too far away from overall 

parity in numbers, but it will be some 

time before this is reflected in each 

course – particularly the programmes  

that are traditionally male dominated.”

Overall, 38 wahine tauira were enrolled 

across the four Māori and Pasifika 

Trades Training programmes:

• 20% of our Automotive tauira

• 20% of our Construction tauira

• 90% of our Health Sciences tauira

• 80% of our Hospitality tauira.

Kelly Johnston, Kaitūhono Mahi Work 

Broker, said the results were well above 

those of 2018 and a direct result of the 

success of the Te Mataora initiative. 

“We provide whānau-based support  

to all our tauira. We help connect  

them to their heritage and culture 

while providing a safe space from 

which to learn and develop their skills,” 

said Kelly.

“We introduce them to potential 

employers, and we work with them for 

six months after the course ends. For 

many it’s their first real experience of 

mahi – and having someone to talk to 

can make all the difference.”
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OUR COMMITMENT 
TO EQUALITY AND 
DIVERSITY

UCOL appoints staff to all 
positions on the basis of 
merit from a wide cross-
section of talent. We 
define merit as including 
knowledge, skills and 
abilities, experience and 
personal qualities as well 
as formal qualifications.

At the 2019 Staff Symposium, UCOL 

launched the UCOL Inclusiveness 

Action Plan, Haere Ngatāhi Tātou. 

The vision of this is “at UCOL, we 

welcome and respect all people”. 

The initial framework focuses on 

People, Practices and Place, and 

incorporates our staff, students and 

communities. As part of the follow-

up, a staff survey was undertaken. 

The responses have been analysed 

and recommendations formulated. 

We will continue to progress this 

work during 2020.

As at 31 December 2019 we 

employed 62.24% females and 

37.76% males.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES
We are committed to creating an inclusive environment that supports 
the employer’s aims and aspirations of all people regardless of gender, 
ethnicity, culture, disability, sexual orientation, family responsibilities, 
age, religion and family status, and people who have been affected by 
domestic violence. We are committed to ensuring that all employees are 
supported to perform at their full potential, and to eliminate the barriers 
that cause or perpetuate inequality in employment. 

UCOL’s Equal Employment Opportunity Policy sets out the framework 
within which we undertake to meet our equity obligations.

62.24%

37.76%
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33% of UCOL’s students identify as Māori or Pacific Peoples. In 
comparison, this is high when considering the wider Māori population 
makes up 17% of the Manawatū/Whanganui/Horowhenua and Wairarapa 
regions (2013 Census – Stats NZ; 2018 Census data is not available at the 
time of this report). 

In 2019 Māori staffing increased to 

15.14% (a 0.76% increase), lower than 

we would like in order to provide 

representation across staff and 

management and reflect our student 

population. We are committed to 

continuing to work on increasing Māori 

and Pasifika representation in 2020.

Our Māori students identify with 

107 iwi groups across the country, 

with the majority being Ngāti Porou 

(East Coast), Te Ati Haunui-a-

Pāpārangi (Whanganui/Rangitīkei), 

Ngāpuhi (Northland/Auckland), Ngāti 

Tūwharetoa – Te Arawa (Rotorua/

Taupō) and Te Atihaunui-A-Pāpārangi 

(Whanganui/Rangītikei). Our Māori 

staff are equally diverse with their  

iwi affiliations.

Legislation used for Equal 
Employment Opportunity 
planning at UCOL:
Education Act (1989)

Equal Pay Act (1972)

Health and Disability Commissioner 

Act (1994)

State Sector Act Amendment (No 2) 

(2004)

Human Rights Act (1993)

Employment Relations Act (2000)

Privacy Act (1993)

Health and Safety at Work Act (2015).

Te Waka Hourua; Māori 
Success Strategy
This strategy guides us on our 

journey to achieve ōritetanga – parity 

– particularly for Māori student 

completions, and also the educational 

success for all students at UCOL.

He Kākano Rua – UCOL’s 
Cultural Competency 
Framework
This framework guides staff in their 

journeys to increasing their cultural 

competency and applying this in 

their work. UCOL’s Māori staff are 

instrumental in leading this framework 

through their direct and frequent 

engagement with staff.

In 2019 we held the following events  

to support the implementation of  

this framework:

Tangata Tiriti – workshops were held in 

April with 55 staff attending. UCOL is 

committed to ensuring all staff attend 

Tangata Tiriti workshops in 2020; 

currently a total of 229 have received 

this training since 2017

Beginner and intermediate te reo 

courses, each 10 weeks long, were held 

at UCOL’s four campuses in 2019.

As part of UCOL’s Public Lecture 

Series, Jennifer Ward-Lealand Te 

Atamira shared her journey as a non-

Māori learning te reo.

OUR COMMITMENT TO  
THE TREATY OF WAITANGI: 
DIVERSITY STRATEGIES

STAFF ETHNICITY 
DISTRIBUTION

European 273 62.61%

NZ Māori 66 15.14%

Other 20 4.59%

New Zealander 14 3.21%

Asian 10 2.29%

Indian 5 1.15%

African 4 0.92%

South African 3 0.69%

Australian 3 0.69%

British 2 0.46%

Middle Eastern 2 0.46%

American 1 0.23%

Uzbek 1 0.23%

Scottish 1 0.23%

Canadian 1 0.23%

Cook Island 1 0.23%

Danish 1 0.23%

English 1 0.23%

Irish 1 0.23%

Korean 1 0.23%

Latin American 1 0.23%

Unknown* 25 4.84%
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IWI MĀORI AND 
COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT
The Te Mataora consortium, 

which is made up of regional iwi 

representatives, continued to guide 

and lead our Māori and Pasifika Trades 

Training programme at a governance 

level. We continue to have strong 

relationships with regional marae. 

Together with Ngāti Kahungunu and 

Rangitāne o Wairarapa we are working 

to restore Te Amorangi whare on the 

UCOL Wairarapa campus.

We now have a formal relationship 

with Te Rūnanga o Ngā Wairiki Ngāti 

Apa, with a commitment to work in 

partnership to bring training and 

education to their iwi descendants. 

The new employee orientation 

programme continues to start with 

a mihi whakatau for new staff. This 

orientation takes place monthly.

We continue to work alongside regional 

iwi representatives to share initiatives 

and assist in iwi training and education 

development goals. 

UCOL Supports Numeracy and 
Literacy Skills with Manawatū 
Prison Education Programme 
UCOL has begun teaching Graham 

Lowe’s Kick for the Seagulls education 

programme at Manawatū Prison, as 

part of a collaboration designed to 

create more opportunities for prisoners 

to rehabilitate and broaden their 

employment prospects. 

Former rugby league coach Graham 

Lowe, Department of Corrections  

staff and polytechnic tutors from 

around the country came to UCOL to 

launch the programme nationally and 

undertake training. 

Kick for the Seagulls was developed by 

the Lowie Foundation, and is taught 

using the language of sport to engage 

students. The programme focuses on 

numeracy and literacy skills.

“We are delighted to host the national 

launch here at UCOL, and to be part 

of a country-wide initiative which has 

the potential to make a difference to 

so many people. It is an opportunity 

for prisoners to make positive changes 

in their lives with long-lasting impact,” 

said UCOL Chief Executive Dr Lynn at 

the launch event. 

Delivering the Kick for the Seagulls 

programme builds on the relationship 

between UCOL and the Department  

of Corrections, which began 10 

years ago with teaching carpentry at 

Manawatū Prison. 

At the training, Graham Lowe spoke 

about the parallels between coaching 

and teaching, highlighting how it is not 

just technical skills that coaches and 

teachers pass on, but also life skills. 

“The responsibility you have as a  

coach is the same as you have as a 

tutor because you are guiding lives.”

UCOL Chief Executive Dr Lynn, Graham 
Lowe, Department of Corrections Acting Chief 
Executive Rachel Leota, and MIT Otara and City 
Campus Manager Nuddy Pillay at the launch of 
the Kick for the Seagulls programme at UCOL.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY 
AT UCOL
Our people (staff and students) are our greatest resource, the source of 
our solutions, the key to our success, and the centre of the services and 
teaching we provide. UCOL is very aware of the importance of everyone’s 
health, safety and wellbeing and that we are on a journey that has no end 
to ensure that we provide a safe and healthy work and study environment 
for all campus users. 

HEALTH, SAFETY, 
WELLBEING 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
The Health and Safety Management 

System has the ability to capture and 

control a lot of activities and data. 

All Return to Work programmes, staff 

training information and renewals and 

pre-qualifications of contractors and 

other PCBUs (persons conducting 

businesses or undertakings) are entered 

into the system. We can now track and 

trend information, which will be used 

in due diligence reports to the UCOL 

Council and Executive Management.

EMERGENCY 
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS
Our Emergency Management system 

review was completed and as a result 

a new position has been established to 

oversee the delivery of all requirements 

within this area. Emergency 

Management and Simulation training 

is scheduled for all campuses in 2020. 

Also, evacuation chairs have been 

installed on all levels on our campuses 

to enable staff, students and other 

users of our campuses safe evacuation 

in an emergency situation.

RISK MANAGEMENT 
REVIEW – CAMPUS 
SECURITY
As a result of the terrorist attack in 

Christchurch, UCOL undertook a full 

review of its security systems. This 

review was carried out by FearFree 

consultants and covered security on 

all campuses, a review of policies and 

procedures and training for key staff. 

Initiatives such as trialling personal 

alarms in high-risk areas and reducing 

entrances and access to our buildings 

on our campuses have been actioned. 

Other recommendations either have 

been implemented or are part of our 

programme of work for 2020.

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
POLICIES
The reviews of health and safety policies 

and procedures continue to ensure 

that they capture changes in Acts, 

Regulations and other Standards. At the 

end of 2019 we introduced a new policy 

called Health and Safety Wellbeing – 

Sick Leave Gift Policy. This policy allows 

permanent staff to gift a proportion 

of their sick leave to a sick leave bank, 

for allocation to other permanent staff 

who may be suffering hardship due to 

unforeseen circumstances.

OUR COMMITMENT IS TO:
Ensure compliance with the Health and Safety at Work Act 

2015 and Regulations, Code of Practice and Standards.

• Ensure staff and students share a mutual 

commitment to health, safety and wellbeing

• Communicate and consult openly with staff at all 

levels, encouraging active participation in all health, 

safety and wellbeing matters

• Ensure that all contractors adhere to safe working 

practices in the delivery of any contracted services work

• Ensure that all our staff and students demonstrate a 

serious commitment to safety and wellbeing practices

• Ensure that our organisational culture is characterised 

by attitudes to safety and wellbeing that are proactive, 

responsible and based on mutual respect and regard

• Receive timely reports on any incident, accident or 

near miss involving staff or students

• Reporting accurately to the UCOL Council and 

Executive Management so they can fulfil their 

responsibilities of due diligence.
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STATEMENT OF  
RESEARCH
Research and knowledge transfer make important contributions to 
educational outcomes for our students, community and stakeholders. 
By sharing the outcomes of our teams’ research findings, we increase 
understanding and knowledge.

Research continues to be a focus 

area at UCOL. In 2019 the institution 

approved a refreshed Research 

and Knowledge Transfer Strategy 

2019-2024, which has a focus on 

improving the quality of our research 

and sharing our knowledge with 

key stakeholders, and aligns with 

the cycle of the next Performance-

Based Research Fund (PBRF). 

The PBRF is a Tertiary Education 

Commission performance-based grant 

designed to support academic staff in 

their research pursuits and encourage 

excellent research in New Zealand’s 

degree-granting organisations. 

All faculties have developed 

research and knowledge transfer 

plans that have enabled them to 

promote and reinforce the purpose 

of research and knowledge transfer.

UCOL submitted for the first time 

to the PBRF and the outcome 

of this was declared in 2019. 

UCOL proposed entering this 

process in 2016 and the number of 

staff successfully submitting to the 

PBRF and being categorised in that 

process, and the income derived, 

have exceeded expectations. UCOL 

researchers performed well, with staff 

in a broad range of programmes being 

acknowledged through the process 

on the three campuses in Whanganui, 

Manawatū and Wairarapa. 24 staff 

submitted profiles, with 13 of these 

being successful and providing the 

institution with more than $1.1 million 

spread over the next six years.  

Research and knowledge transfer 

and the contribution that research 

makes to educational outcomes for 

students and stakeholders is of prime 

importance. Sharing the outcomes of 

developing research at UCOL through 

regular presentations continues to 

increase understanding among staff, 

and it is a priority to share knowledge 

with our stakeholders and the wider 

community. With that in mind UCOL 

relaunched the regular monthly 

PowerHour research symposium in 

2019 and it has been highly successful.

UCOL requires teaching in degrees 

to be informed by research. The 

important connections between 

research and teaching are reinforced 

on all campuses. We are looking to 

increase research in cooperation 

with our partners and stakeholders. 

We will be monitoring progress 

and finding ways to increase that 

commitment in 2020 and beyond. 

This will include growing our research 

culture and increasing external 

research grant applications.

10 AWARDS  
FOR RESEARCH 
OUTPUTS

12 EXHIBITIONS 12 JOURNAL AND 
BOOK ARTICLES

15 CONFERENCE  
PRESENTATIONS OR  
PUBLICATIONS
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RESEARCH  
STATEMENTS
BACHELOR OF  
APPLIED MANAGEMENT
2019 was another successful year of 

research for the Bachelor of Applied 

Management team, with the team 

involved in a total of nine research 

projects. Research again covered 

a mix of education-based subjects 

(including areas such as supportive 

communication between tertiary 

students and an assessment of 

the carbon footprint related to the 

transportation of UCOL students) 

and industry research (including 

recruitment challenges for employers, 

undistributed funds within New 

Zealand trusts, integrated marketing 

communication towards airline growth 

and digital communication in the 

workplace). Staff delivered a total of 

four peer-reviewed journal articles in 

2019, with one further journal article 

currently under review for publication. 

In addition, one staff member 

presented a residency lecture in the 

United Kingdom focused on ‘Digital 

Communication in the 21st Century’.

The team continue to develop 

collaborative research projects with 

staff teaching on other UCOL degrees, 

especially staff on the Bachelor of 

Information and Communication 

Technology (ICT). There are also 

a number of projects that have 

planned research outputs for 2020 

which will build on the team’s 

research achievements in 2019.

BACHELOR OF 
INFORMATION AND 
COMMUNICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY
2019 was another excellent year 

of research achievements for the 

Bachelor of ICT team, with all staff 

involved in research and the team 

involved in 14 research projects. The 

team achieved the publication of 

four peer-reviewed journal articles 

in 2019, with a further three peer-

reviewed journal articles accepted 

for publication in 2020 in high-

ranking international journals. Two 

staff achieved a total of three 

research outputs for international 

conference presentations (at the 

Futures in Education Conference 

in Cincinnati, the United States, 

and the International Conference 

of Experience Design, Innovation 

and Entrepreneurship on the 

Gold Coast, Australia).

As in previous years, the research 

showed a mix of education-based 

research (including the teaching of 

data analytics, exploring technology 

use in 21st-century education 

and factors influencing student 

performance) and industry-based 

research (including the design of an 

Internet of Things (IoT)-based fire 

alerting system, IoT intelligent wound-

monitoring system, fuzzy sets and 

fuzzy Riesz spaces, and eye-tracking 

to determine user experience).

The team’s research included 

collaboration across specialities, 

with staff teaching on other UCOL 

degrees and with researchers at 

both national and international 

universities. A number of research 

projects have planned outputs in 

2020, which positions this team 

well to continue their excellent 

achievements in research.

BACHELOR OF APPLIED 
SCIENCE (MEDICAL 
IMAGING TECHNOLOGY)
The Medical Imaging Technology 

team started the year with staff 

engaged in seven research projects, 

which included two projects in 

collaboration with staff from other 

degrees in UCOL Exercise and Sport 

Science (examining occupational 

musculoskeletal industries in 

radiographers) and Creative Media 

(examining where science meets art, 

in collaboration with Te Manawa). 

Research in the Medical Imaging 

Technology team is mainly focused on 

education-based research in a range 

of areas, including student success 

factors, developing graduates to meet 

the work demands of industry, industry 

placement assessment tools, and 

student-centred feedback. The team 

achieved one research output in 2019, 

with a conference presentation at 

the New Zealand Institute of Medical 

Radiation Technology Educators 

Forum. A journal article from this 

presentation is planned for 2020.

2019 proved a challenging year 

for research due to a number of 

staff changes that occurred. Now 

that replacement staff are in place, 

the team are in the process of 

refocusing their research for 2020.
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BACHELOR OF 
EXERCISE AND SPORT 
SCIENCE/ BACHELOR 
OF APPLIED SCIENCE 
(PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 
AND WELLNESS/
STRENGTH AND 
CONDITIONING/SPORT 
AND RECREATION 
MANAGEMENT)
2019 was another positive year of 

research for the Bachelor of Exercise 

and Sport Science/Bachelor of 

Applied Science staff, with all staff 

engaged in research projects. 

Staff were engaged in a total of nine 

research projects, with two staff 

also involved in studies towards a 

Master’s and a PhD respectively. The 

research plan showcases a high level 

of collaboration between this team 

and other researchers both from within 

UCOL and externally in universities 

in New Zealand and Australia. The 

team achieved one peer-reviewed 

journal article in 2019, which examined 

the competition-day preparation 

strategies of Strongman athletes. Two 

further articles are under development 

for submission early in 2020. 

The team also delivered two 

conference presentations at the Sport 

and Exercise New Zealand conference 

related to the impacts of training 

programmes on performance, and 

two at the New Zealand Association 

for Research in Education conference 

relating to relationship-based teaching 

and students’ voice to improve 

teaching practice. Several research 

projects will be progressed in 2020, 

including a collaboration project with 

UCOL Science staff examining the 

effects of cardiorespiratory fitness 

and obesity on immunity, body 

composition and aerobic capacity in 

New Zealand youth, which is currently 

in for ethical approval.

This team continues to perform well 

with their research activities and 

achievements, with this expected to 

continue to develop in 2020. 

BACHELOR OF  
NURSING
2019 was a year of continued 

development related to research 

for the Nurse Education Team. This 

continued work in 2018 on the 

development of research clusters 

for research and also saw the staff 

engaged in a focused research 

workshop using an external 

experienced nursing researcher to 

support the progression of their 

research projects towards publication. 

Staff were involved in a total of nine 

research clusters/projects, which in 

addition to these research activities 

saw a total of seven staff involved 

in studying towards postgraduate 

qualifications (two at PhD level and 

five at Master’s).

Staff published one peer-reviewed 

journal article, with a second article 

accepted and due to be published 

early in 2020, along with four 

presentations at national conferences. 

Research outputs for 2019 focused 

on education-based research, with 

outputs in the areas of Māori student 

success in undergraduate nursing 

programmes, student readiness for 

learning in an E-environment, and 

preparing the tertiary institutions 

for developments in learning 

technology (such as augmented/

virtual reality, adaptive learning and 

blended learning). Staff have two 

further journal articles currently under 

development for submission for review 

in early 2020, with one staff member 

also co-authoring a book chapter that 

is currently under review. 

The research planning and 

development work that has occurred  

in the past two years now sees the 

Nurse Education Team well positioned 

to increase their research outputs  

in 2020. 

BACHELOR OF 
CREATIVE MEDIA
The team again performed well at the 

New Zealand Institute of Professional 

Photography’s (NZIPP’s) annual Iris 

Professional Photography Awards, 

with staff taking home a total of seven 

awards (two Silver, five Bronze) and 

students also performing at a very high 

level in achieving five Silver and eight 

Bronze awards. Staff were engaged in a 

total of eight research projects in 2019, 

which in addition to the photography 

awards included three staff achieving 

exhibition outputs for their work, 

both in the UCOL Edith Gallery, Te 

Manawa and at the Museum Giersch 

der Goethe-Universität in Germany. 

In addition to this, the team 

developed a strong connection with 

industry through industry projects 

and research, including a concept 

design for projection mapping for the 

Globe Theatre in Palmerston North, 

in addition to other developments 

around Palmerston North. 

A highlight of the year was a 

research collaboration between 

Creative staff from the Bachelor of 

Creative Media and the Bachelor of 

Design and Arts, which developed 

well. A number of projects from 
2019 will continue in 2020, with 

a focus on realising the targeted 

research outputs and the team well 

positioned to achieve this in 2020.
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BACHELOR OF DESIGN 
AND ART (VISUAL 
ARTS/DESIGN MEDIA/
FASHION & TEXTILES)
2019 was another successful year of 

research for staff teaching on the 

Design and Arts degrees in Whanganui. 

Staff achievements again involved 

a range of outputs, from awards to 

exhibitions across a range of media. 

One staff member won the pattillo 

Whanganui Arts Review award in 2019 

and will exhibit her work in early 2020, 

which involves work involving a mix of 

both glass and 3D printing. Another 

staff member was a finalist at the 

Waikato Arts Awards. A Visual Arts 

staff member was granted a residency 

opportunity in Vermont, Canada in 

2019, in addition to exhibiting her 

work at the Wallace Arts Centre in 

Auckland and the Calder & Larson 

Gallery in Hamilton. In the area of 

design media, one staff member 

achieved multiple outputs through 

exhibiting her work in animation 

through projection at a number of 

exhibitions and events in Whanganui.

At UCOL, one of the staff was 

recognised internally through 

her receiving the UCOL Award for 

Excellence in Research. Another 

highlight of the year was the Creative 

Industries Staff Show – a research 

collaboration between creative  staff 

from the Bachelor of Creative Media 

and the Bachelor of Design and 

Arts degrees. The AFTER HOURS 

exhibition, at the Edith Gallery on the 

Whanganui UCOL Campus, involved 

work from seven of the Bachelor of 

Design and Art staff members. 

Additionally, 2019 saw the return 

of the Pecha Kucha research series, 

at which seven staff presented. 

There was a great turn out from 

staff, students and local industry 

at the July and August events.  

Staff have a number of projects 

that will continue into 2020, which 

will see their great achievements 

in research continue.

POSITIVE OUTCOME FOR 
FIRST-TIME RESEARCH 
SUBMISSION 
UCOL researchers were delighted that 

their first-ever submissions to the 

government’s PBRF were successful. 

13 UCOL staff who submitted 

research proposals received positive 

responses, which is an outstanding 

result, especially for an institute’s 

first applications. UCOL’s Chief 

Executive, Dr Lynn, says, “The work of 

UCOL’s researchers is commendable. 

Research capability will continue to 

build as UCOL establishes its Centres 

of Vocational Excellence with Allied 

Health a core focus.”

Dr Jerry Shearman, UCOL’s 

Director of Education and Applied 

Research, was ecstatic with the 

result, which reflects the hard work 

that goes into research at UCOL.

“UCOL researchers have performed 

well, with staff in a broad range 

of programmes acknowledged at 

campuses in Whanganui, Palmerston 

North, and Wairarapa. UCOL has 

steadily been working towards a 

research funding submission for 

the past two years and this is an 

indication of the quality of the 

applied research we do and an 

endorsement of UCOL degrees.”

Two standout areas that achieved 

success for the polytechnic 

were Creative Arts and Sports 

& Exercise Science. 

“The value of research at a vocational 

institution like UCOL is that it is 

based on practical issues that add 

value to our regional industries and 

stakeholders. Working more closely 

with them will grow our research even 

further and add to the next PBRF 

application in 2024,” says Jerry.

“Over the next few 
years, we want to grow 
that value proposition 
and deepen our 
connections with our 
stakeholders, aiming 
for an even better 
result in the next 
PBRF assessment  
in 2024.”
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RESEARCH  
OUTPUTS
AWARDS
Cox, S. NZIPP Iris Professional 

Photography Awards (two 

Silver, one Bronze).

du Chatenier, A. Residency, Vermont 

Studio Center. Vermont, USA.

du Chatenier, A. Finalist, 

Waikato Arts Awards.

du Chatenier, A. Jury Award, 

Wallace Art Awards.

Falkner, T. NZIPP Iris Professional 

Photography Awards (one Bronze).

Kumeroa, C. Award Winner, Best 

Māori Business Award (Digital & 

Technology), Whanganui, New Zealand.

LeRoux, G. NZIPP Iris Professional 

Photography Awards (two Bronze).

Rotherham, I. NZIPP Iris Professional 

Photography Awards (one Bronze).

Wightman. K. pattillo Whanganui 

Arts Review award (February 2019), 

Sarjeant Gallery, Whanganui.

Wightman, K. UCOL Award for 

Research Excellence, January 2019.

CONFERENCE 
PRESENTATIONS
Bailey, J. & Desai, F. 2019. Using 

a self-reflection tool to enable 

lecturers to set relationship-based 

learning goals for their teaching 

relative to the implementation of 

the Effective Teaching Profile. New 

Zealand Association of Research in 

Education Conference. Christchurch, 

New Zealand. 18-20 November 2019.

Chittick, H. 2019. Factors that support 

Māori to succeed in undergraduate 

nursing programmes in Aotearoa New 

Zealand. 2019 Australasian Nurse 

Educators Conference. Dunedin, New 

Zealand. 18-20 November 2019. 

Davenport, F. 2019. Scared to Death 

Yet Dying to Know: Exploring death 

anxiety in first year nursing students 

prior to their clinical placement in 

aged care. 2019 Australasian Nurse 

Educators Conference. Dunedin, New 

Zealand. 18-20 November 2019. 

Desai, F. 2019. Quality assurance: 

Collecting student voice using focus 

groups to inform relationship-based 

learning in a tertiary education setting. 

New Zealand Association of Research 

in Education Conference. Christchurch, 

New Zealand. 18-20 November 2019.

Farooq, H., Imtiaz, A. & Aljanaby, 
A. 2019. Innovation in New Zealand’s 

21st century education: exploring 

technology use. The International 

Conference of Experience Design, 

Innovation and Entrepreneurship. Gold 

Coast, Australia. 14-16 August 2019.

Hu, M. & Cleland, S. 2019. A Pilot 

Study of Developing Introductory 

Course in Data Analytics and 

Business Intelligence. Frontiers in 

Education Conference: Bridging 

Education to the Future, Cincinnati, 

USA. 16-19 October 2019.

Hu, M. & Cleland, S. 2019. Build 

up a Constructivist Learning 

Environment for Teaching First-

year Students Data Flow Diagrams. 

Frontiers in Education Conference: 

Bridging Education to the Future, 

Cincinnati, USA. 16-19 October 2019.

Racey-Stilwell, M. 2019. Student-

centred feedback. Review of what 

is the latest thinking? New Zealand 

Institute of Medical Radiation 

Technology Educators Forum. Rotorua, 

New Zealand. 29 August 2019.

Rotherham, I. 2019. Invited 

keynote speaker. 67th PSNZ 

National Convention. Wellington, 

New Zealand. 26-29 April 2019.

Tyacke, V-L. 2019. Readiness 

for the E-environment. 2nd New 

Zealand Digital Campus and 

Learning Transformation from K-6 

to Higher Education, Auckland, 

New Zealand. 26-27 March 2019. 

Tyacke, V-L. 2019. Panel: How 

to Prepare Your School for Next 

Generation Infrastructure Now: 

AR/VR, Adaptive Learning and 

Blended Learning. 2nd New 

Zealand Digital Campus and 

Learning Transformation from K-6 

to Higher Education. Auckland, 

New Zealand. 26-27 March 2019. 

CONFERENCE 
PROCEEDINGS AND 
OTHER PUBLICATIONS
Ehambaranathan, N. 2019. 
Leading in the 21st Century: 

Digital Communication. 2019 

Master Residency, University 

of Liverpool, Liverpool, UK.

Kendall, E. & Wormgoor, S. 2019. 
Effects of high-intensity interval 

training on body composition 

markers in prepubescent children: 

A narrative review. Proceedings 

of the Sport & Exercise Science 

New Zealand Conference, pg 50.

Mann, M.E. & Gribbon, R. 
2019. The effects of lower body 

strength training programmes on 

vertical jump height in dancers: 

A narrative review. Proceedings 

of the Sport & Exercise Science 

New Zealand Conference, pg 51.

Mustafa, M. 2019. Barriers to 

the utilisation of Primary Health 

Care Nurse Practitioners’ full 

potential in Manawatū region. 

Unpublished Master’s project. 

Massey University, New Zealand.

EXHIBITIONS
Andrews, P. 2019. Mighty Bright – 

Mighty Small. Video Projection for Te 

Manawa Exhibition (Nano Technology). 

22 November 2019 – February 2020. 
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Andrews, P. 2019. Women 

Refuge. MacDairmid Gallery, Te 

Manawa. Palmerston North, New 

Zealand. 13-19 September 2019.

Andrews, P. 2019. Concept 

Design, Set Design, Prototyping: 

Projection Mapping for Live 

Performance at Globe Theatre, 

Palmerston North, New Zealand.

Andrews, P., Leurink, S., Falkner, 
T., West, S., Wightman, K., 
Hahn, D., Kumeroa, C., Sellar, K., 
Webb, L. & Salinas, A. 2019. After 

Hours Exhibition, UCOL School of 

Creative Industries Staff Exhibition. 

UCOL Edith Gallery, Whanganui, 

New Zealand. October 2019.

du Chatenier, A. 2019. Moonage 

Dream. Pah Homestead, TSB Wallace 

Arts Centre, Auckland. 16 July 2019.

du Chatenier, A. 2019. Orange 

Blossom. Sarjeant Arts Review, 

Whanganui. 9 April 2019.

du Chatenier, A. 2019. Fertile 

Ground. University of Waikato. 

25-29 November 2019.

Hahn, D. 2019. Sentient Beauty, 

Finn and Playdoh. UCOL Edith 

Gallery, Whanganui, New 

Zealand. October 2019.

Kumeroa, C. 2019. Whanganui 

Māori Arts Exhibition (Kaitiakitanga). 

Whanganui, New Zealand.

Kumeroa, C. 2019. Whanganui 

Lights on Bikes Event: Animation 

Projections across Whanganui 

River. Whanganui, New Zealand.

Kumeroa, C. 2019. Art Instillation: 

Lighted Bird Screens. Victoria 

Avenue, Whanganui.

West, S., Whiteman, K., Hahn, D., 
Kumeroa, C., Sellar, K., Webb, L. 
& Salinas, A. 2019. Pecha Kucha 

Research Presentations. Whanganui, 

New Zealand. August 2019.

JOURNAL AND 
BOOK ARTICLES
Bashir, Z., Abbas Malik, M. G., 
Asif, S., & Rashid, T. (In Press). 
The topological properties of 

intuitionistic fuzzy rough sets. Journal 

of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems.

Bashir, Z., Malik, M. A., Afridi, 
F., & Rashid, T. (In Press). The 

algebraic and lattice structures 

of type-2 intuitionistic fuzzy 

sets. Journal of Computational 

and Applied Mathematics.

Chittick, H., Manhire, K., & Roberts, 
J. (2019). Supporting success 

for Māori undergraduate nursing 

students in Aotearoa/New Zealand. 

Kai Tiaki Nursing Research, 10(1), 15.

Ehambaranathan, N. & Murugasu, 
S. (2019). India’s Act East Policy: 

How important is it towards ASEAN? 

Foreign Policy Research Centre 

Journal. 27. ISSN 2277-2464.

Ehambaranathan, N. & Murugasu, 
S. (In Press). The Determinants of 

Integrated Marketing Communications 

towards the Growth of Air New 

Zealand. Journal of Airline and 

Airport Management.

Iqbal, M., Malik, M. G., Bashir, Y. & 
Bashir, Z. (2019). The Unbounded 

Fuzzy Order Convergence in Fuzzy 

Riesz Spaces. Symmetry, 11(8), 971.

Page, M., Pool, L., Crick, M. & Leahy, 
R. (In Press). Empowerment of 

learning and knowledge: Appreciating 

professional development for 

registered nurses in aged residential 

care. Nurse Education in Practice.

Sassani, B., Jamil, N., Villapol, 
M., Malik, A. & Tirumala, S.S. (In 
Press). FireNot – An IoT based 

Fire Alerting System: Design and 

Implementation. Journal of Ambient 

Intelligence and Smart Environments.

Sattar, H., Bajwa, I. S., Amin, R. U., 
Sarwar, N., Jamil, N., Malik, M. A. 
... & Shafi, U. (2019). An IoT-based 

intelligent wound monitoring system. 

IEEE Access, 7, 144500-144515.

Tani, K. (2019). Transportation 

habits of students at UCOL: How 

green are our students? Scope: 

Contemporary Research Topics 

(Learning & Teaching), (8).

Tani, K., Dalzell, E., 
Ehambaranathan, N., Murugasu, S. & 
Steele, A. (2019). Evaluation of factors 

affecting students’ performance 

in tertiary education. Journal of 

Pedagogical Research, 3(2), 1.

Winwood, P. W., Pritchard, H. J., 
Wilson, D., Dudson, M. & Keogh, 
J. W. L. (2019). The competition-

day preparation strategies of 

strongman athletes. Journal 
of Strength and Conditioning 

Research, 33(9): 2308-2320.
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TERTIARY EDUCATION 
STRATEGY
The Tertiary Education Strategy 2014-

2019 sets out a number of priorities 

for the sector. The six priorities of 

the Tertiary Education Strategy 

are included in UCOL’s 2019 2021 

Investment Plan. The priorities are:

Delivering skills for industry

 Getting at-risk young people 

into a career

Boosting achievement of Māori 

and Pacific Peoples

 Improving adult literacy and 

numeracy

Strengthening research-based 

institutions

 Growing international linkages.

In addition, UCOL staff engaged in the 

Ministry of Education’s consultation for 

the new Tertiary Education Strategy 2020. 

Our Statement of Service Performance, when read in conjunction with 
the balance of this Annual Report, provides an assessment of our 
performance against our strategic goals for the 2019 financial year.

STATEMENT OF SERVICE 
PERFORMANCE

OUR STRATEGIC  
STORY

O Tātou Kitenga – Vision 
To inspire students, businesses and 

communities to succeed

Kaupapa – Mission 
Develop great graduates who make a 

difference wherever they work in the 

world

Areas of Focus
In 2019 we focused on:

• Growing our research and 

knowledge transfer capability

• High-quality teaching

• Improving educational 

performance for all learners

• Increasing our international 

partnerships and students

• Strong governance and strategic 

management

• Increasing our stakeholder 

engagement.

Measures of Success 
Our success will be measured by the 

following four outcomes:

Outcome 1 – UCOL is a preferred 

provider of learning

Outcome 2 – Our students succeed

Outcome 3 – We collaborate with key 

stakeholders to find unique solutions 

and mutually beneficial outcomes

Outcome 4 – We will achieve 

Category 1 status, as a financially 

sustainable tertiary institute, at our 

next assessment in 2021.

OUR INVESTMENT PLAN 2019-2021
During 2018 the Tertiary Education 

Commission approved UCOL’s 2019-

2021 Investment Plan, which outlines 

the commitments for the quantity and 

type of tertiary education UCOL will 

provide and the outcomes we expect to 

achieve. It was pleasing that the Tertiary 

Education Commission acknowledged 

and endorsed our plan, as well as the 

new initiatives and priorities we will be 

undertaking in the next three years.

In 2019 we re-negotiated our Investment 

Plan for 2019-2021 with the Tertiary 

Education Commission. The plan 

confirms our commitment to the 

Tertiary Education Strategy and clearly 

sets out how we contribute to the six 

government priorities. Our amended 

2019-2021 Investment Plan builds on 

UCOL’s existing strengths as a high-

performing Institute of Technology and 

Polytechnic. It also builds on previous 

strong performance, including improved 

outcomes for Māori students and Pacific 

Peoples, and our financial sustainability.

The plan emphasises growth in applied 

research through potential Centres of 

Vocational Excellence, teaching through 

on-campus deliveries, blended learning, 

micro-credentials, and professional 

development (including in-work 

training) that is of value to our local 

industries. As a result of these modern 

learning practices we will improve 

vocational education and training, 

foster enterprise-level innovation, and 

assesses and deliver relevant skills now 

and in the future. 

The interim 2019 figures in the 

Statement of Service Performance 

have been sourced from the January 

2020 Single Data Return. Some student 

results will continue to be processed 

beyond this date and some measures 

are reliant on final numbers from other 

providers. Once complete, the final 

results for 2019 will be made publicly 

available by the Tertiary Education 

Commission. In addition, UCOL will 

report final amounts for 2019 in the 

2020 Annual Report.
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Priority 1 Delivering Skills for Industry

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 1
Delivering skills for industry   

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 2
Getting at-risk young people into a career   

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 6
Growing international linkages

We continue to refresh the 

programmes on offer, introducing a 

number of New Zealand qualifications 

with strong links to the regional 

economic development needs in our 

rohe, ensuring we are responsive, 

relevant and sustainable. As a result, 

we are a preferred provider of learning 

for students and employers.

Overall, the number of students 

studying at UCOL in 2019 decreased 

by 10.76%  compared to 2018 in 

challenging market conditions. We 

delivered 244 fewer equivalent full-

time students (EFTS) than in 2018 at 

SAC level 3 and above. This was in line 

with sector trends. Whilst domestic 

EFTS including SAC level 3 and above 

numbers were down, international 

numbers were up by 6.2% (total 222 

EFTS). This reflects well on UCOL’s 

strategy to rationalise agents and 

have more institution-to-institution 

relationships. Semester 1 2019 saw the 

largest-ever number of international 

applications – an increase of 40% 

on the same period in 2018. One 

factor that may have affected our 

domestic EFTS position is a buoyant 

employment market, and this seems to 

have affected all our campuses. 

Enrolments in our secondary-tertiary 

pathway programmes continue to grow 

and exceed targets. There has also 

been significant growth in students 

studying online through TANZ 

eCampus and in some short-course 

programmes including te reo Māori. 

We have continued our relationship 

with our primary subcontractor, the 

Horowhenua Learning Centre.

2019 was the first full year of our 

Centre of Assessment of Prior Learning 

with 100 enquiries and 27 people  

through the assessment of prior 

learning process.

882 students studied under the 

government’s fees-free scheme. 

OUTCOME 1: 

UCOL IS A PREFERRED 
PROVIDER OF LEARNING

INCREASE
in Māori students 

course completion  

from 2018

6.2% 
INCREASE
in international  

EFTS from 2018

MORE 
THAN 500
U-skills Academy 

students 
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INCREASE PARTICIPATION IN TERTIARY EDUCATION

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Interim** 
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

To increase the number of domestic EFTS 3,066 3,039 3,121 3,121 2,811 3,126

To increase the number of international EFTS 267 219 209 209 222 236

To increase the number of base SAC level 3  
and above EFTS

2,579 2,591 2,643 2,634 2,399 2,632

To increase the number of students [individuals] 5,732 6,065 6,484 N/A 5,868  6,520

UCOL plans to increase provision to the in-work market through blended delivery and Centre of Assessment of Prior Learning assessments of in-work 
market candidates for partial awarding of qualifications. The number of students (individuals) enrolling and the number of total EFTS will increase, 
although more students will enrol part-time. 

The EFTS-based targets are challenging for UCOL as the number of students leaving school is expected to decrease during the term of the 2019-2021 
Investment Plan. 

To achieve these targets we will continue to:

• Provide a range of qualifications relevant to students and employers

• Engage school leavers to help more transition directly into tertiary education

• Attract people who are already in employment to study

• Attract those not yet in education or employment or training

• Provide ways for our students to remain in tertiary education. 

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.
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INCREASE PARTICIPATION RATES FOR MĀORI, PASIFIKA AND UNDER-25S

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Interim** 
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika
All SAC levels 64.4% 63.5% 63.9% N/A 64.7% 66.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 53.0% 50.7% 52.3% N/A 52.9% 50.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 61.0% 63.4% 64.8% N/A 64.4% 63.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 75.9% 74.1% 73.0% N/A 72.6% 72.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 84.0% 45.5% 69.8% N/A 66.7% 64.0%

Māori
All SAC levels 31.2% 32.2% 32.1% 32.1% 31.2% 33.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 40.9% 43.5% 43.3% N/A 41.8% 43.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 35.2% 32.7% 30.7% N/A 31.7% 33.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 20.7% 22.9% 23.7% N/A 23.7% 23.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 16.0% 41.7% 30.2% N/A 33.3% 30.0%

Pasifika
All SAC levels 5.8% 5.8% 5.8% 5.8% 6.1% 6.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 7.7% 7.6% 6.9% N/A 8.8% 7.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 5.6% 5.6% 6.2% N/A 5.8% 4.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 4.5% 4.4% 4.4% N/A 4.9% 5.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 0.0% 12.8% N/A N/A N/A 6.0%

Under 25-year-olds
All SAC levels 59.1% 58.1% 57.5% 57.5% 65.3% 61.0%

SAC levels 1 to 3 60.4% 63.4% 63.1% N/A 61.4% 64.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 58.5% 55.0% 55.5% N/A 54.0% 59.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 59.0% 57.3% 55.4% N/A 52.9% 59.0%

SAC levels 8 to 10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 22.2% N/A*

The number of students leaving school is expected to decrease over the term of the amended 2019-2021 Investment Plan. UCOL already has a high 
rate of participation for Māori, which exceeds the proportion of Māori in the overall population. 

To be successful UCOL will need to continue to:

• Build on the success of our Te Atākura 
relationship-based learning framework

• Provide a range of qualifications relevant to 
students and employers

• Engage school leavers to help more 
transition directly into tertiary education

• Attract people who are already in 
employment to study

• Attract those not yet in education or 
employment or training

• Provide ways for our students to remain in 
tertiary education.

In addition, UCOL is now more focused on completion rates rather than participation, providing a fully integrated wrap-around student support 
framework. This is based on a student success approach, rather than a deficit thinking ‘gap’ model.

The overall Māori participation rates at UCOL are high, reaching 31% of all enrolments in recent years. This participation rate is also similar for the 
Māori under-25 student demographic at 31-32%. Māori students enrol in a wide range of programmes offered, with some of the more popular ones 
being Sports and Exercise Science, Māori and Pasifika Trades Training, Hospitality and Catering, and health programmes including pre-nursing and the 
Nursing degree. 

The Māori and Pasifika Trades Training programme contains a specific support system, with a work broker assisting students while they are studying 
and preparing them for employment. Working in collaboration is the specialist Raukura support team, which provides cultural and pastoral care as 
a mobile service to all Māori students. For many of the programmes, the Raukura team undertake the ‘kōrero process’, an informal interview with 
students – particularly the under-25s – to assess their suitability for and readiness to study. The three larger UCOL campuses have whānau rooms and/
or wharenui, which play a significant role in student support. These act as learning spaces, underpinned by cultural development activities. Whānau 
rooms are open to all students. 

UCOL’s unique Te Atākura programme is also contributing to improved student participation, retention and success.  This professional development 
programme teaches staff how to focus on relationship-based learning.

An increased number of Māori and Pasifika students successfully completed their courses at SAC levels 3 to 7 in 2019. This was achieved in part 
by redirecting our resources with targeted student support. This cohesive approach enables us to allocate resources to programmes and learners 
that need them most. We continued to build the capability of our staff to improve our student success through targeted professional development 
programmes. These included an institution-wide approach to our Te Tiriti o Waitangi obligations, Te Atākura and e-learning initiatives. 

We improved our ability to track individual students’ performance by increasing our use of the Student Attendance and Progress Tracking systems. We 
can now quickly identify students who need extra support, assess the support requirements and provide appropriate support, thereby enabling more 
students to stay engaged and complete their programmes successfully. This support comes from subject-matter experts, peer support, culturally safe 
practices in the classroom, our Student Success team and the specialist Raukura team. Having the Raukura support team operate as a mobile unit at 
faculties’ coal face, as they have every day since they first started, has been an essential building block to increased Māori student success in recent years.

* Targets reflect those outlined in the 2019-2021 Investment Plan which was approved by both the UCOL Council and the Tertiary Education Commission in 
2018. The Investment Plan did not set a performance target for all measures and these have been identified in the table above with an “N/A” designation. 

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report. 
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STAKEHOLDER (INDUSTRY) SATISFACTION SURVEY

A Stakeholder (industry) Satisfaction Survey will be completed in 2020 ahead of the next External Evaluation and Review cycle 

in 2021.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Actual 
2019

Target 
2019

Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey or equivalent 
completed

Yes - - - N/A* 

Stakeholder feedback provides UCOL with evidence that we are meeting the needs of employers and that our stakeholder engagement processes 
are working.  Stakeholders were included and engaged in opportunities throughout the Reform consultation period, providing direct feedback to 
the TEC about UCOL and their needs.  

* Targets reflect those outlined in the 2019-2021 Investment Plan which was approved by both the UCOL Council and the Tertiary Education Commission in 
2018. The Investment Plan did not set a performance target for all measures and these have been identified in the table above with an “n/a” designation.
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GRADUATES ENROLLING IN FURTHER EDUCATION
We will improve the number of students progressing to further tertiary education at a higher level.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Interim** 
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

All students

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 35.6% 38.3% 44.9% 30.7% 47.4% 39.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 43.9% 35.8% 42.7% N/A 43.0% 44.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 33.5% 42.1% N/A N/A N/A3 43.3%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 50.0% 36.5% N/A N/A N/A4 41.0%

Māori

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 39.4% 40.5% 41.3% 25.5% 48.8% 41.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 31.0% 33.3% 53.6% N/A 48.7% 34.0%

Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 33.7% 48.9% 44.3% 26.3% 53.2% 49.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 0.0% 40.0% 16.7% N/A 37.5% 41.0%

Under 25-year-olds

SAC levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 40.6% 46.7% 46.0% N/A 46.4% 47.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 to a higher level 43.9% 35.8% 42.7% N/A 43.0% 44.0%

3 Waiting for results
4 Waiting for results

This measures the progress of students, not just within UCOL but also to further study in other Tertiary Education Organisations. 

We will continue to:

• Encourage student enrolments for further study while students are completing their study

• Make available more part-time and flexible study pathways, enabling recent graduates to re-enrol and continue study while working

• Provide adequate information on study pathways to assist students in making informed choices

• Have enrolment processes available early for continuity of study.

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.
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MORE THAN 500 
STUDENTS TAKE PART 
IN U-SKILLS ACADEMY 
PROGRAMMES 
The U-Skills Academy programmes 

have seen tremendous growth since 

they began in 2012 with 81 students 

enrolled. In 2019, more than 500 

students completed programmes at 

the Manawatū, Wairarapa, Horowhenua 

and Whanganui campuses.

U-Skills Academy programmes provide 

year 11 to 13 students the opportunity 

to attend UCOL (or a UCOL-approved 

site) once a week to develop industry-

relevant skills, while also earning NCEA 

(National Certificate of Educational 

Achievement) credits. 

The programmes range from trades to 

hospitality to business, and introduce 

students to subjects they can study 

full-time at UCOL. 

Throughout their programmes, 

students set themselves goals and 

work on various projects. For example, 

in 2019 Business Enterprise students 

developed products and services 

that they sold at a market day, while 

Cookery and Café Skills students 

competed in hospitality competitions. 

UCOL Schools Partnership Manager 

Hayden Robinson says buy-in from 

secondary schools across the regions 

has played a big part in the U-Skills 

Academy’s success. 

“The schools have shown great 

support for the U-Skills Academy over 

the years and treat it as an extension of 

what they offer in their classrooms. It’s 

about providing students with a range 

of options that appeal to their interests 

and career aspirations.” 

Hayden says U-Skills Academy 

students not only develop vocational 

skills and knowledge, but also gain 

skills that they can apply no matter 

what they do in life. 

“The U-Skills Academy is about 

personal growth as much as it is about 

learning vocational skills. Students 

learn about self-management, working 

as a team and solving problems. 

I’m always really proud when I see 

students grow in self-confidence and 

step out of their comfort zones to try 

new things.” 

CONSTRUCTION 
AND ARCHITECTURE 
ATTRACT STUDENTS 
FROM AROUND THE 
WORLD
UCOL’s New Zealand Diploma in 

Architectural Technology and New 

Zealand Diploma in Construction 

classes had a distinctly international 

flavour in 2019, with 11 nationalities 

represented. 

UCOL Construction Programme 

Leader David Freebairn says this was 

the largest blend of cultures that the 

programmes have had.

The programmes included students 

originally from the USA, the 

Philippines, Korea, Hong Kong, 

Pakistan, Afghanistan, the Cook 

Islands, India, the UK, the Netherlands 

and New Zealand. 

The Architectural Technology and 

Construction diplomas have a lot of 

crossover in the first year, so students 

from the two programmes spend a lot 

of time together. 

David says the students built great 

camaraderie and provided each other 

with support and peer tutoring. “They 

came together as one group and 

worked really well. It was a steep 

learning curve for a lot of the students 

who came from overseas because 

New Zealand buildings are different 

from those they have back in their 

home countries,” says David.

“They have only concrete buildings in 

some cases, but here we have more 

timber, so for us it’s about trying to 

get them to think in a different way.”

Construction student James Kang 

came to study at UCOL after serving in 

the Republic of Korea Army and then 

teaching in China. “I love this lifestyle. 

Korean lifestyle is so busy,” says 

James about living in New Zealand. 

After completing the New Zealand 

Certificate in English Language 

(Level 4), James enrolled in 

Construction due to the employment 

opportunities in the industry. 

Baljot Singh came from India to 

study construction due to the 

employment possibilities. “There 

is a lot of demand for construction 

workers in New Zealand, so I opted to 

come here to study construction.” 

Shujaat Aziuzullah moved to New 

Zealand from Pakistan three years 

ago and has progressed to the New 

Zealand Diploma in Architectural 

Technology after completing 

the U-Skills Academy Applied 

Technology and Design Programme 

while at Awatapu College. Like a 

lot of his classmates, Shujaat is 

looking to stay and work in New 

Zealand after graduating. 

The Architectural Technology 

and Construction diplomas 

also saw an increase in female 

students last year, with a total of 

18 compared with 12 in 2018. 

One of those students, Trizia 

Castillo, says she chose to study 

Architectural Technology after 

enjoying learning about design at 

secondary school. Trizia says that 
having Architectural Technology 

available at UCOL suited her, as she 

didn’t have to move away from her 

family in Palmerston North to study.
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Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 1
Delivering skills for industry   

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 2
Getting at-risk young people into a career   

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 3
Boosting achievement of Māori and Pasifika

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 4 
Improving adult literacy and numeracy

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 5
Strengthening research-based institutions

In order for students to succeed 

academically, it is clear that student 

wellbeing must be supported. In 

2019 our Student Success teams 

offered a variety of programmes 

to help our students, including 

monthly social events, counselling, 

foodbanks, anxiety support groups, 

a parenting-at-a-distance network 

and regular LBGTQI groups.

Our relationship-based Te Atākura 

programme also continued to affect 

student learning during 2019. A 

culturally responsive model that was 

introduced to raise parity between 

Māori and non-Māori students, Te 

Atākura has established better 

learning environments for all students.

OUTCOME 2:  

OUR STUDENTS SUCCEED

LOOKING FORWARD INTO 2020
Our Student Success Strategy 2019-2022 is at the heart of what we will 

do. Its five key priorities are: 

1. A student life-cycle approach: The principal focus is on enabling 

students’ preparedness for study and the provision of an effective 

welcome and transition experience

2. Early intervention: The principal focus is on building a sense of 

belonging, with increased opportunities for student engagement with 

their peers and the co-curricular campus, as well as an online experience

3. Learning support: The principal focus is on enhancing student 

engagement with their learning through the quality of the learning 

experience. This is supported by systems and processes that provide 

early detection of and intervention for students at risk

4. Building employability: The principal focus is on embedding and 

connecting student employability

5. Self-assessment: The principal focus is on ensuring the  

evaluation of retention strategies underpinned by data, and  

informing ongoing improvement. 

As the Reform of Vocational Education continues and its changes begin to 

roll out, maintaining strong communications with students will be highly 

important. This way they will know that their education and qualifications 

will not be disrupted during 2020. 
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STUDENT SATISFACTION SURVEYS 

We will continue to measure students’ satisfaction while they are studying and as they move into employment.

The MyQ survey measures graduates’ success in finding work and how prepared they feel for employment. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Actual 
20195 

Target 
2019

Student Satisfaction Survey

Semester 1 - 73.0% 74% 83% 74.0%

Semester 2 82.0% 84.0% 86% 77% 85.0%

RateMyQual – MyQ

Students in paid employment six months 
after graduating

- 71.0% N/A N/A 71.5%

Students who believe their qualifications 
prepared them for work

- 91.0% N/A N/A 90.0%

Stakeholder feedback provides UCOL with evidence that we are meeting the needs of employers and that our stakeholder engagement processes 
are working. 

Rate My Qual survey was not completed in 2019.

5 No survey was conducted in 2019

H
E 

K
Ō

R
ER

O
 M

Ō
 N

G
Ā

 H
U

A
   

52



STUDENT COURSE COMPLETIONS 

While our targets were not met, the number of Māori and Pasifika students successfully completing courses at SAC levels 3 to 

7 increased in 2019. This mainly reflected a redirection of our resources to programmes and learners that needed them most. 

We also continued to provide targeted professional development programmes for our staff, helping them to improve student 

success through an institution-wide approach to our Te Tiriti o Waitangi obligations, our relationship-based teaching approach 

(Te Atākura) and e-learning initiatives.

We increased our use of the Student Attendance and Progress Tracking systems to monitor students’ progress and attendance 

and identify those who needed support with staying engaged and completing their programmes. The support mechanisms 

included help from subject-matter experts and peers, the use of culturally safe practices in the classroom, and, for Māori 

students, support from the Student Success Team working alongside the Raukura team.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Interim** 
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

All students

All SAC levels 77.8% 78.2% 75.1% 73.7% 77.1% 79.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 81.7% 75.7% 86.0% N/A 79.3% 84.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 80.8% 80.5% 79.2% N/A 81.0% 81.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 83.7% 76.7% 89.8% N/A 83.4% 84.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 68.7% 72.1% 68.0% 66.5% 69.7% 74.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 75.4% 68.0% 77.6% N/A 68.1% 78.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 67.2% 75.2% 66.2% 65.3 65.9% 76.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 79.2% 89.6% 86.6% N/A 100.0% 90.0%

Under 25-year-olds

All SAC levels 77.8% 77.6% 73.3% 72.0% 76.8% 78.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 81.7% 75.7% 86.0% N/A 79.3% 84.0%

We are actively engaging with priority learners to ensure they succeed at rates similar to those of the overall student population. 

To achieve this target we will continue to:

• Utilise Te Atākura, our relationship-based learning framework

• Offer education in ways that match students’ learning preferences, such as face to face, blended or online

• Provide relevant orientation, educational tools and support services for students.

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.
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STUDENTS ARE RETAINED IN STUDY

The retention of students in tertiary study is critical as it enables them to succeed in completing their courses and 

qualifications.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Interim** 
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

All students

All SAC levels 76.4% 72.2% 74.9% 73.9% 73.9% 73.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 65.9% 57.2% 60.3% N/A 64.8% 66.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 81.0% 78.9% 79.3% N/A 75.7% 83.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 83.2% 80.8% 77.3% N/A 74.8% 84.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 66.9% 61.2% 61.3% N/A 64.9% 66.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 82.9% 80.6% 82.7% N/A 77.0% 85.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 72.6% 66.0% 70.8% 67.8% 72.4% 67.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 63.0% 47.8% 63.6% N/A 66.7% 63.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 75.9% 74.7% 72.2% N/A 73.1% 76.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 65.2% 67.7% 56.0% 67.5% 57.9% 68.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 66.7% 50.0% 33.3% N/A 50.0% 88.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 64.7% 73.9% 63.2% N/A 58.8% 88.0%

Under 25-year-olds

All SAC levels 77.8% 74.9% 75.8% N/A 72.9% 78.0%

SAC levels 4 to 7 (non-degree) 77.8% 74.9% 69.8% N/A 69.2% 78.0%

SAC level 7 (degree) 82.3% 79.8% 77.3% N/A 73.6% 82.0%

The retention of students requires us to monitor student engagement from their enrolment until they complete their studies. We have a number of 
tools to achieve this outcome, and the most powerful is Te Atākura.

Our modest increases in retention reflects the fact that some of our students are now successfully gaining employment before they complete their 
studies. By providing more study options for the in-work market we can encourage them to stay engaged in study – at least part-time.

To achieve this target, we will continue to:

• Utilise Te Atākura

• Offer education in ways that match students’ learning preferences, such as face to face, blended or online

• Provide relevant orientation, educational tools and support services for students.

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.
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QUALIFICATION COMPLETIONS

Qualification completions at UCOL in 2019 were better than in 2016 and 2017 and slightly behind those of 2018. Our students 

performed exceptionally well in our Youth Guarantee programmes, including our Māori and Pasifika students. In a high-

employment work market, we believe this is a good result as a number of students gained employment before they completed 

their qualifications. 

We have endeavoured to create pathways for those students to enrol part-time to complete their studies with us and learn 

while they earn. Strategies being looked at to enable this include more online learning, block course options and more night 

classes. 

Please note the calculation method has changed and historical actuals have been restated.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual 
2018

Interim** 
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

All students

All SAC levels 61.1% 62.5% 67.0% 65.8% 64.2% 63.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 79.1% 71.9% 71.1% N/A 83.7% 79.0%

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

All SAC levels 61.9% 64.2% 71.0% N/A 69.6% 65.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 80.0% 73.3% 73.8% N/A 89.1% 80.0%

Māori

All SAC levels 57.9% 58.2% 60.8% 58.9% 55.1% 59.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 76.1% 65.2% 62.2% N/A 75.0% 76.0%

Pasifika

All SAC levels 63.3% 58.1% 61.2% 51.7% 58.2% 59.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 50.0% 54.5% 71.4% N/A 72.7% 87.0%

Under 25-year-olds

All SAC levels 59.4% 60.7% 64.5% 58.2% 61.9% 61.0%

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 79.1% 71.9% 71.1% N/A 83.7% 79.0%

If we enable students to stay in study we will be well positioned to increase our programme completion rates. We are actively engaged in helping 
priority learners to graduate at rates similar to those of the overall student population. 

To achieve this target, we will continue to:

• Utilise Te Atākura which is integral to improvements in this measure

• Offer education in ways that match students’ learning preferences, such as face to face, blended or online

• Provide relevant orientation, educational tools and support services for students.

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.

ST
A

T
EM

EN
T

 O
F 

SE
R

V
IC

E 
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

55



EXPECTED GRADUATES

This is a new measure for 2019-2021. ‘Expected graduates’ is an estimate of the number of qualifications that we expect to 

award.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2018

Interim** 
2019

Target 
2019

Non-Māori and non-Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3
New measure

422 536

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 82 112

Māori
SAC levels 1 to 3 

New measure
281 299

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 36 32

Pasifika

SAC levels 1 to 3 
New measure

54 55

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 8 6

Under 25-year-olds

SAC levels 1 to 3 New measure 419 415

Youth Guarantee levels 1 to 3 123 129

Expected graduates: Graduates were down on target in line with decreased efts during the year

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results continue to be processed 
beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available 
by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.
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Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 1
Delivering skills for industry   

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 2
Getting at-risk young people into a career 

Collaboration makes the work we do 

greater than the sum of its parts. 

Today’s graduates will face an 

increasingly globalised workplace. 

In turn, there are many international 

students who can benefit from learning 

in a New Zealand environment. 

Establishing further partnerships with 

overseas institutions was a focus for 

UCOL in 2019. 

A delegation visiting China in 2019 

enabled us to sign our second 

Collaborative Agreement with the 

Urban Vocational College of Sichuan. 

We are having discussions with 

institutes in Shanghai, Chengdu, 

Guiyang and Jinan. We have also 

strengthened our relationship with 

Heytour Group Holding, which 

will have a full-time staff member 

promoting UCOL’s programmes to its 

network of 300 Chinese agents. 

Our international success expands 

beyond Chinese institutions. In 2019 a 

group of students from the Rotterdam 

University of Applied Sciences joined 

UCOL as part of their Beyond Borders 

programme. This trip was a great 

success for both schools, and we are 

currently finalising a memorandum of 

understanding to explore how we can 

collaborate further. 

Closer to home, we have established 

a new relationship agreement with 

the New Zealand Defence Force and a 

memorandum of understanding with 

Te Rūnanga o Ngā Wairiki Ngāti Apa. 

Through these UCOL is better able 

to deliver educational opportunities 

to learners in our regions. They sit 

alongside the regular meetings we have 

with regional economic development 

agencies, local government, the 

Ministry of Education and schools. 

In order to develop the best 

qualifications we can for our 

students, strong industry connections 

are essential. Our programme 

advisory boards all include industry 

representation, and throughout 2019 

we engaged these members for special 

events. They included our public 

lecture series, in-class seminars and 

employment expos. 

Our students are our most crucial 

stakeholders, and understanding 

their needs enables us to better 

support their success. We can do 

this by engaging with our students’ 

association and all our students. In 

2020 we are looking to strengthen 

the student voice at UCOL through a 

student voice programme. 

OUTCOME 3:  

WE COLLABORATE WITH 
KEY STAKEHOLDERS 
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OUR PROGRAMMES REFLECT OUR COLLABORATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS 

We increase the number of programmes of study offered to students that have an industry engagement component, leading to 

better education relevancy for employers.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual  
2018

Actual 
2019

Target 
2019

Proportion of programmes with an industry engagement component 70% 70% 70.0%

Health and Sciences 93.0% N/A*

Humanities and Business 67.0% N/A*

Trades and Applied Technologies 79.3% N/A*

To achieve excellent employment outcomes for students and employers, many of our programme offerings include industry engagement 
components, reflecting our pedagogy. This new key performance indicator was introduced in 2019 to measure the proportion of programmes that 
include this component.

To achieve this measure each programme approved in future will be expected to have an industry engagement component, whether it is a new 
programme or a refreshed programme. Online programmes developed for the in-work market are exempt from this measure as students are 
generally employed and are able to apply their learnings immediately to their work. 

We have set this target based on the proportion of programme self-assessment reports that indicate significant engagement with stakeholders and 
industry is required, and since 2018 this has been captured in programmes’ self-assessment reports. 

*  Targets reflect those outlined in the 2019-2021 Investment Plan which was approved by both the UCOL Council and the Tertiary Education Commission in 
2018. The Investment Plan did not set a performance target for all measures and these have been identified in the table above with an “n/a” designation.
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PARTNERSHIP BETWEEN 
UCOL AND HEYTOUR 
GROUP HOLDING 
STRENGTHENS
International education relationships 

are strengthening between UCOL 

and Heytour Group Holding. In 

March UCOL Chief Executive Dr 

Lynn presented Mr Skye Wang, 

Executive Vice President of the 

Heytour Beijing branch, with an Agent 

Representation Certificate in Beijing.

Heytour Group Holding is a New 

Zealand- and China- registered entity 

that specialises in international 

education, migration, investments 

and hospitality. Established 

in 2017, the Group currently 

operates out of Shanghai, Beijing, 

Guangzhou and Hong Kong, and 

branch offices in New Zealand 

include Auckland, Christchurch, 

Dunedin and Palmerston North.

The partnership with Heytour Group 

will see a full-time staff member 

operate out of Heytour’s office 

in Beijing, who will specialise in 

promoting UCOL’s programmes to its 

network of 300 agents in China. The 

role, which is fully funded by Heytour, 

demonstrates Heytour’s confidence in 

UCOL’s internationalisation strategy.

Mr Skye Wang is positive about 

the relationship between 

UCOL and Heytour.

“UCOL is consistently one of the top-

performing vocational institutions in 

New Zealand. In addition to offering 

the fastest turnaround in enrolment 

assessments among all education 

providers in New Zealand, its Senior 

Leadership team understands the 

cultural nuance and motivating 

reasons for Chinese international 

students going overseas for a  

tertiary education. This helps to 

ensure that the educational pathways 

undertaken are connected with 

employment aspirations.”

Semester 1 2019 saw the largest-ever 

international applications received by 

UCOL – an increase of 40% compared 

to the same period in 2018.

COLLABORATION WITH 
SICHUAN INSTITUTE
A delegation to China led by 

UCOL Chief Executive Dr Lynn 

signalled continuing synergies 

between UCOL New Zealand and 

Chinese tertiary institutes.

The main purpose of the visit was 

the signing of a Collaboration 

Agreement with the Urban 

Vocational College of Sichuan in 

Chengdu, the second agreement 

between the tertiary institutions. 

This collaboration recognises 

UCOL’s expertise in early childhood 

education as well as English and sets 

a way forward for UCOL to deliver 

English language and early childhood 

education training schemes in China. 

As a result of the relaxation of the 

one-child policy and a focus on 

internationalisation in China, demand 

for early childhood education teachers 

trained in Western pedagogy is high, 

and it is expected that graduates 

will be prepared for work within 

the international early childhood 

education system in China. 
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OUTCOME 4:  

WE WILL ACHIEVE 
CATEGORY 1 STATUS, 
AS A FINANCIALLY 
SUSTAINABLE TERTIARY 
INSTITUTE, AT OUR NEXT 
ASSESSMENT IN 2021.

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 1
Delivering skills for industry   

Tertiary Education Strategy Priority 6
Growing international linkages

By being a high-performing and 

enduring organisation, we ensure we 

can deliver on our regions’ aspirations. 

This performance is defined in many 

ways: we must be an excellent educator, 

a great employer with an engaged 

workforce, and a good steward of 

the resources entrusted to us.

In 2019 UCOL turned around a 

potentially higher deficit through 

a number of initiatives.

Another measure of successful 

performance is an assurance of quality 

and consistency. In 2019, 26 of our 

programmes participated in the New 

Zealand Qualifications Authority’s 

Consistency Review, taking part in self-

evaluations and giving a presentation 

on the results for our graduates at an 

external forum. All our programmes 

were deemed to meet expectations, 

highlighting that the services we 

offer our graduates are preparing 

them for where they need to be. 

For UCOL to continue offering the 

best experience to our students, we 

need to be continually innovating 

and looking for new opportunities. 

In 2019 we began to offer weekend 

study options and online connected 

classes for our Early Childhood 

Education programmes, because 

we knew the students in these 

programmes often need to balance 

study with their existing work 

commitments. This coincided with the 

significant expansion of our Education 

programmes, whose student numbers 

grew from 35 EFTS (approximately 

70 students) in 2016 through one 

programme on two campuses to 

more than 170 EFTS (approximately 

280 students) in 2019, in four 

programmes across four campuses. 

Equally important is the personal 

development of UCOL’s most 

important resource – our staff. 

Teaching and professional staff 

are offered a variety of learning 

opportunities, and each employee 

has an allocated 10 days’ leave per 

year to ensure these opportunities 

are taken up. Our teaching staff 

are supported through the 

academic promotion system, as 

well as formal teaching skills. 
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WE ARE A HIGH-QUALITY INSTITUTE  

We increase the number of programmes of study offered to students that have an industry engagement component, leading to 

better education relevancy for employers.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual 
2015

Actual 
2016

Actual 
2017

Actual  
2018

Actual 
2019

Target 
2019

Category assessed by External Evaluation 
and Review

- Category 2 - - - -

Proportion of teaching staff with CATA* 
or equivalent

79.0% 87.5% 80.7% 68.9% 63.3% 81.0%

Proportion of academic staff recognised 
as fellows or experts

25.0% 25.5% 22.6% 25.1% 23.3% 23.0%

Our next scheduled External Evaluation and Review is in 2021. The additional measures reflect the quality of our teaching staff between external 
reviews. The proportion of staff holding CATA or equivalent is dependent on voluntary staff turnover remaining at similar levels to the current 5% 
per annum.

* New Zealand Certificate in Adult and Tertiary Teaching

Gain the skills you need to teach adults in a post-compulsory educational setting with UCOL’s New Zealand Certificate in Adult and Tertiary Teaching.
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WE ARE FINANCIALLY SUSTAINABLE

We aim to be a viable and sustainable organisation. We measure our risk profile against the Tertiary Education Commission’s 

Financial Monitoring Framework, seeking a ‘low-risk’ rating throughout.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS Actual 
2018

Actual 
2019

Target  
2019

Viability risk as measured under the Financial Monitoring Framework (>3) Low Low Low 

Sustainability risk as measured under the Financial Monitoring Framework (>3) Low Low Low 

Overall risk rating under the Financial Monitoring Framework Low Low Low 

Operating surplus before one-off items 2.9% (1.4%) 2.9%

Net cash flows from operations 107.8% 108.2% 111.3%

Liquid funds ratio 20.8% 22.4% 22.0%

The financial information for this measure is collected by the Tertiary Education Commission as part of its monitoring framework and reported mid-
year after the Annual Report is prepared. As a result, an interim measure (and prior-year comparative) will be reported in the Annual Report and 
the final result will be reported in the following Annual Report. 

To meet this target we will continue to:

• Aspire to a 5% return on revenue, with a minimum of 1%, allowing reinvestment in our organisation and our assets 

• Manage the property and equipment we own to ensure we hold the right assets for our current programmes.

STAFF ARE ENGAGED IN OUR ORGANISATION

Staff engagement is an important part of being a high-performing institute. Throughout the year, staff across the campuses 

come together in two annual events, the Annual Staff Welcome in January and the Staff Symposium in July. Both of these 

events engage staff in workshops and with speakers on key priority areas. They enable us to share collective thinking with one 

another and offer feedback opportunities. In addition, there are monthly team engagement sessions on each campus, providing 

the Chief Executive and staff with opportunities to connect and raise any topics.
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COST OF SERVICES

We provide services in one output class, Tertiary Education. As a result, the costs of this output class match the costs of the 

entire organisation.

 $000s Actual 
2018

Target 
2019

Actual 
2019

Revenue 48,527 46,275 50,630

Expenditure    

Educational delivery 24,653 25,338 22,401

Educational support 18,905 18,003 22,938

Depreciation 3,518 3,570 3,818

Interest 26 19 29

Total expenditure 47,102 46,930 49,186

Surplus/(Deficit) before one-off items 1,425 (655) 1,444

one-off items 340 536 0

Surplus/(Deficit) 1,085 (1,191) 1,444

ST
A

T
EM

EN
T

 O
F 

SE
R

V
IC

E 
PE

R
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E

63



64

H
E 

K
Ō

R
ER

O
 T

A
TA

U



HE KŌRERO 
TATAU    

THE NUMBERS

T
H

E 
N

U
M

b
ER

S

65



INDEPENDENT 
AUDITORS REPORT
To the readers of Universal College of Learning  
and group’s financial statements and statement  
of service performance for the year ended  
31 December 2019
The Auditor-General is the auditor of Universal College of 
Learning (the Polytechnic) and group. The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, Debbie Perera, using the staff and resources 
of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial 
statements and statement of service performance of the 
Polytechnic and group on his behalf. 

OPINION 

We have audited:

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic and group on 
pages 69 to 103 that comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2019, the statement of 
comprehensive revenue and expense, statement of changes 
in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that 
date and the notes to the financial statements that include 
accounting policies and other explanatory information; and

• the statement of service performance of the Polytechnic and 
group on pages 43 to 63.

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of the Polytechnic and group 
on pages 69 to 103, which have been prepared on a 
disestablishment basis:

 – present fairly, in all material respects:

• the financial position as at 31 December 2019; and

•  the financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended; and

 – comply with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand in accordance with Public Benefit Entity 
Standards; and

• the statement of service performance on pages 43 to 63:

 – presents fairly, in all material respects, the Polytechnic 
and group’s service performance achievements as 
compared with the forecast outcomes included in the 
investment plan for the year ended 31 December 2019; and

 –  complies with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 16 April 2020. This is the date at 
which our opinion is expressed.

The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we draw 
your attention to the financial statements being appropriately 
prepared on a disestablishment basis and COVID-19. In 
addition, we outline the responsibilities of the Council and 
our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and 
the statement of service performance, we comment on other 
information, and we explain our independence.

The financial statements have been appropriately 
prepared on a disestablishment basis 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention 
to the accounting policy on page 69 and note 19 on page 
102, about the financial statements being prepared on a 
disestablishment basis. We consider the disestablishment 
basis to be appropriate because the Polytechnic will 
cease as an entity and transfer its assets and liabilities to 
UCOL Limited on 1 April 2020 as a result of the reform of 
the institutes of technology and polytechnics sector.

COVID-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the 
disclosures in note 19 on page 102 which outline the possible 
effects to the Polytechnic and group as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic. It is difficult to determine the full effect of it on the 
Polytechnic and group at this time.

BASIS FOR OUR OPINION

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-
General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional 
and Ethical Standards and the International Standards on 
Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the 
auditor section of our report.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COUNCIL FOR THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND THE STATEMENT 
OF SERVICE PERFORMANCE

The Council is responsible on behalf of the Polytechnic and 
group for preparing financial statements that are fairly presented 
and that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand.

The Council is also responsible on behalf of the Polytechnic and 
group for preparing a statement of service performance that 
is fairly presented and that complies with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand.

The Council is responsible for such internal control as it 
determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial 
statements and a statement of service performance that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements and the statement of 
service performance, the Council is responsible on behalf of the 
Polytechnic and group for assessing the Polytechnic and group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If the Council concludes 
that the going concern basis of accounting is inappropriate, the 
Council is responsible for preparing financial statements on a 
non-going concern basis and making appropriate disclosures. 

The Council’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 
2004 and the Education Act 1989.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDITOR FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
THE STATEMENT OF SERVICE PERFORMANCE

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, as a whole, are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with 
the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
are differences or omissions of amounts or disclosures, 
and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
decisions of readers taken on the basis of these financial 
statements and statement of service performance.

For the budget information reported in the financial statements 
and the statement of service performance, our procedures 
were limited to checking that the information agreed to the 
Polytechnic and group’s investment plan and budget. 

We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic 
publication of the financial statements and the statement of 
service performance. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:

• We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Polytechnic and group’s 
internal control.

• We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the Council.

• We conclude on the appropriateness of the non-going 
concern basis of accounting by the Council. 

• We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial statements and the statement of service 
performance of the entities or business activities within 
the group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements and the consolidated statement of 

service performance. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Council regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Council is responsible for the other information. The  
other information comprises the information included on 
pages 3 to 42 and 104 to 107, but does not include the financial 
statements and the statement of service performance, and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements and the statement 
of service performance does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of audit opinion or assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements and 
the statement of service performance, our responsibility is to 
read the other information. In doing so, we consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements and the statement of service performance or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on our work, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information,  
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report  
in this regard.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Polytechnic and group in 
accordance with the independence requirements of the 
Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate 
the independence requirements of Professional and 
Ethical Standard 1: International Code of Ethics for 
Assurance Practitioners (including International 
Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the 
New Zealand Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or 
interests in the Polytechnic or any of its subsidiaries.

DEBBIE PERERA
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Palmerston North, New Zealand 
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We are responsible for the preparation of UCOL’s financial statements and Statement of Service 

Performance, and for the judgements made in them.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to 

provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial reporting.

In our opinion, these financial statements and Statement of Service Performance fairly reflect 

the financial position and operations of UCOL for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Signed by:

Lyal French-Wright 

Chief of Operations 

Ben Vanderkolk 
Council Chair

31 March 2020 

STATEMENT OF 
RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2019
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REPORTING ENTITY
The financial statements of UCOL for the year ended 31 
December 2019 were authorised for issue by the Council 
Chairperson and the Chief of Operations on 31 March 2020.

UCOL is a Crown entity domiciled and incorporated in New 
Zealand and is established under the Education Act 1989 as a 
public tertiary institution. It provides full-time and part-time 
tertiary education in New Zealand. The relevant legislation 
governing UCOL’s operations includes the Crown Entities Act 
2004 and the Education Act 1989.

The consolidated financial statements of the group consist of 
UCOL (‘the parent’), UCOL Holdings Limited (a wholly owned 
subsidiary), UCOL International Limited (a wholly owned 
subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited), UCOL Developments 
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited), 
UCOL School of International Cuisine Studies Limited (a wholly 
owned subsidiary of UCOL Holdings Limited) and Minerva 
International Education Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary). 
These subsidiaries are in the process of being liquidated.

These financial statements incorporate a 16.67% equity share 
of TANZ eCampus Limited, which is an associate. UCOL jointly 
controls the entity.

All UCOL subsidiaries and associates are incorporated and 
domiciled in New Zealand. 

UCOL and the group provides educational and research services 
for the benefit of the community. It does not operate to make a 
financial gain.

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Minister of Education announced the Government’s 
decisions on the Reform of Vocational education proposals on 1 
August 2019. The Education (Vocational Education and Training 
Reform) Amendment Act 2020 (the Act) was enacted on 24 
February 2020 to reform the delivery of vocational education in 
New Zealand.

The Act creates a new Crown Entity, the New Zealand  
Institute of Skills and Technology (NZIST), and converts all 
existing institutes of technology and polytechnics into crown 
entity companies, which will be subsidiaries of NZSIT and 
will take on the operational activities of existing institutes of 
technology and polytechnics.

Under the Act UCOL will transfer its assets and liabilities to a 
new company, the UCOL Limited on 1 April 2020.  Because of 
these changes UCOL has prepared its financial accounts on a 
disestablishment basis.

However, because it is expected that vocation education will 
continue to be provided through UCOL Limited, no change 
needs to be made to the measurement or classification of assets 
and liabilities.  Decisions about the future of these assets and 
liabilities will be the responsibility of the new entity.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements of UCOL and the group have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown 
Entities Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989 which include the 
requirement to comply with New Zealand generally accepted 
accounting practice (NZ GAAP).

The financial statements, including the comparatives, have been 
prepared in accordance with Tier 1 Public Sector PBE Accounting 
Standards (PBE accounting standards).These financial 
statements comply with PBE accounting standards. These 
standards are based on International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (IPSAS).

For the purposes of these financial statements, UCOL 
has been designated as a public benefit entity (PBE). 
Public benefit entities (PBEs) are reporting entities whose 
primary objective is to provide goods or services for 
community or social benefit and where any equity has been 
provided with a view to supporting that primary objective 
rather than for a financial return to equity holders.

These statements comprise:

• A Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

• A Statement of Changes in Equity

• A Statement of Financial Position

• A Cash Flow Statement

• Notes to the Financial Statements

3. MEASUREMENT BASE

The financial statements have been prepared on an historical 
cost basis, except for land and buildings which have been 
measured at fair value. Non-current assets and disposal groups 
held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value (less costs to sell).

4. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION 
CURRENCY

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars 
and all values, other than the Council member remuneration 
disclosures in Note 4 and the related party transaction 
disclosures in Note 18, are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($000).

STATEMENT OF 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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5. STANDARDS ISSUED AND NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE AND NOT EARLY ADOPTED

Standards and amendments issued but not yet effective that 
have not been early adopted and which are relevant to UCOL are:

Financial Instruments

PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments replaces PBE IPSAS 29 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. PBE IFRS 
9 is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2022, with earlier adoption permitted.

The main changes compared to PBE IPSAS 29 that are relevant 
to the Institute are:

• New financial asset classification requirements for 
determining whether an asset is measured at fair value or 
amortised cost.

• A new impairment model for financial assets based on 
expected losses, which may result in the earlier recognition of 
impairment losses.

UCOL does not intend to early adopt this amendment. UCOL 
carried out an assessment of the effects of the new standard and 
judged them to be not material.

Service Performance Reporting

PBE FRS 48 replaces the service performance reporting 
requirements of PBE IPSAS 1 and is effective for reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. UCOL 
does not intend to early adopt this amendment. UCOL 
has not yet determined how application of PBE FRS 48 
will affect its statement of service performance.

Statement of Cashflows

An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows 
requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users 
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both changes 
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. This 
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2021, with early application permitted. 
UCOL does not intend to early adopt the amendment.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Significant accounting policies are included in the notes to which 
they relate. Significant accounting policies that do not relate to a 
specific note are outlined below.

6. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The group financial statements are prepared by adding together 
like items of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, expenses and 
cash flows on a line-by-line basis. All significant intragroup 
balances, transactions, revenue and expenses are eliminated in 
full on consolidation. Adjustments are made to bring into line 
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

(a) Non Consolidated Entity

A share of the results of Akoranga Education Trust Incorporated 
has not been recognised in UCOL’s financial statements in 2018 
and 2019 because it is not probable benefits will flow to UCOL 
from the Trust and UCOL’s entitlement to the Trust’s net assets 
cannot be reliably measured.

7. GST AND OTHER TAXES

(a) GST

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 
of GST except:

• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

• receivables and payables which are stated with the amount 
of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as 
operating cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are 
disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority.

(b) Taxation

Tertiary institutes are exempt from the payment of income tax. 
Accordingly, no charge for income tax has been provided. All of 
UCOL’s subsidiaries are charitable organisations and are exempt 
from income tax in New Zealand.

8. COMPARATIVES

When presentation or classification of items in the financial 
statements is amended or accounting policies are changed 
voluntarily, comparative figures are restated to ensure consistency 
with the current period unless it is impractical to do so.

9. BUDGET FIGURES

The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles and are consistent 
with the accounting policies adopted by the Council for the 
preparation of the financial statements.

10. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Both the functional and presentation currency of UCOL 
and its New Zealand subsidiaries is in New Zealand dollars 
($). Any transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates 
applicable at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rate of exchange applicable at the balance date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value was determined.
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11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with 
PBE accounting standards, requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions concerning the future 
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions about the future are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, 
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

(a) Property Revaluations

Note 10 provides information about the estimates and 
assumptions exercised in the measurement of revalued land  
and buildings.

(b) Retirement Gratuities

Note 13 provides information about estimates and assumptions 
exercised in the measurement of retirement gratuities.

12. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING UCOL’S 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Judgements made by management in the application of PBE 
accounting standards that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the next year are discussed in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements.

Management has exercised the following critical judgements 
in applying UCOL’s accounting policies for the year ended 31 
December 2019:

(a) Classification of Property

UCOL owns some properties which are held primarily for 
strategic purposes. The receipt of market-based rental from 
these properties is incidental to holding these properties. These 
properties are accounted for as property, plant and equipment  
in accordance with PBE Accounting Standard 17.

(b) Crown Owned Land and Buildings

Property in the legal name of the Crown that is occupied  
by UCOL is recognised as an asset in the Statement of  
Financial Position. 

UCOL considers it has assumed all the normal risks and rewards 
of ownership of this property despite legal ownership not being 
transferred, and accordingly it would be misleading to exclude 
these assets from the financial statements.

UCOL has secured the use of the property by means of a lease 
from the Ministry of Education for a period of 99 years from 1 
February 1998 at a nominal rental of $1 per annum.

(c) Suspensory Loans with Equity Conversion Features

Most Crown funding received is operational in nature and 
is provided by the Crown under the authority of an expense 
appropriation and is recognised as revenue.

Where funding is received from the Crown under the authority 
of a capital appropriation, UCOL accounts for the funding as a 
capital contribution directly in equity.
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Consolidated 

Actual 

2019

Consolidated 

Budget 

2019

Consolidated 

Actual 

2018

Parent 

Actual 

2019

Parent 

Actual 

2018

Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

REVENUE

Government grants 3(a)  30,796  32,163  32,421  30,796  32,421 

Student tuition fees 3(b)  13,187  14,588  13,899  13,187  13,899 

Other revenue 3(c)  2,115  1,727  1,898  2,115  1,898 

Finance revenue 3(d)  177  296  309  177  308 

TOTAL REVENUE  46,275  48,774  48,527  46,275  48,526 

EXPENSES
Employee benefit expenses 4  27,709  28,050  27,859  27,709  27,859 

Depreciation expense 10  3,251  3,472  3,243  3,251  3,243 

Amortisation expense 11  319  288  275  319  275 

Materials and operations 3(e)  15,632  16,135  15,699  15,632  15,641 

Finance costs 3(d)  19  33  26  19  26 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES  46,930  47,978  47,102  46,930  47,044 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) BEFORE SHARE OF ASSOCIATE 
ENTITY AND SEPARATELY DISCLOSED EXPENSE 
ITEMS

(655)  796  1,425 (655)  1,482 

Separately disclosed expense items 3(f)  527  46  404  527  404 

TOTAL EXPENSES  47,457  48,024  47,506  47,457  47,448 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) BEFORE SHARE 
OF ASSOCIATE ENTITY

(1,182)  750  1,021 (1,182)  1,078 

Share of associate entity 9 (9)  152  64 (9)  64 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (1,191)  902  1,085 (1,191)  1,142 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE  
REVENUE AND EXPENSE
Transfer of revaluation reserve on 
disposal of land and buildings1 16 (41)  -   -  (41)  -  

Revaluation of land and buildings 16  -   -   7,622  -   7,572 

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
REVENUE AND EXPENSE

(1,232)  902  8,707 (1,232)  8,714 

Explanations of major variances against budget

Surplus/(deficit) for the period is $2,093,000 behind budget due to revenue which is behind budget offset to a minor extent by 
expenses which are less than budget in response to the adverse revenue position. The adverse revenue position is driven by lower 
student numbers than budgeted.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

1 This relates to the transfer to retained earnings upon disposal of surplus Whanganui property.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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Consolidated 

Actual 

2019

Consolidated 

Budget 

2019

Consolidated 

Actual 

2018

Parent 

Actual 

2019

Parent 

Actual 

2018

Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 7,364 11,156 4,780 6,762 4,178

Receivables and sundry assets 6 11,704 10,841 9,264 11,700 9,260

Other financial assets 8 2,500  -  4,500 2,500 4,500

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 21,568 21,997 18,544 20,962 17,938

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Investment in associate entity 9 1,128 2,228 1,157 1,128 1,157

Investment in Subsidiaries 9  -   -   -   -   -  

Receivables and sundry assets 6  -   -   -  1,446 1,446

Land 10 28,652 24,291 28,652 28,007 28,007

Buildings 10 73,297 64,711 73,510 73,297 73,510

Other plant and equipment 10 6,640 6,665 6,326 6,640 6,326

Intangible assets 11 580 2,853 613 580 613

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS 110,297 100,748 110,258 111,098 111,059
TOTAL ASSETS 131,865 122,745 128,802 132,060 128,997

LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 12 5,055 3,810 4,205 5,050 4,200

Employee entitlements 13 3,178 1,764 3,069 3,178 3,069

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14 3,871 3,853 3,879 3,871 3,879

Revenue received in advance 15 12,001 11,364 8,962 12,001 8,962

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 24,105 20,791 20,115 24,100 20,110

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Employee entitlements 13 560 531 531 560 531

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 14 525  469 290 525 290

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,085 1,000 821 1,085 821
TOTAL LIABILITIES 25,190 21,791 20,936 25,185 20,931
NET ASSETS 106,675 100,954 107,866 106,875 108,066

EQUITY
Public equity 59,438 59,438 59,438 59,431 59,431

Retained earnings 35,343 37,285 36,575 35,600 36,832

Asset revaluation reserve 16 11,894 4,231 11,853 11,844 11,803

TOTAL EQUITY 106,675 100,954 107,866 106,875 108,066

Explanations of major variances against budget

Cash and cash equivalents are less than budget due a delay in property disposals (please refer to the Cash Flow Statement).  

Land, buildings and asset revaluation reserve are respectively $4,361,000, $7,626,000 and $7,663,000 greater than budget.

This is mainly due to the 2018 revaluation of land and buildings being more than budgeted. In addition a delay in disposal of surplus 
Whanganui properties is contributing to the positive variance.

Trade and Other Payables are greater than budget due to TEC Clawback accrual not being budgeted for.

Employee entitlements are greater than budget due to delay in settlement of legislative compliance issues (please refer to Note 13 
Employee Entitlements). In addition generally 2019 balances employee entitlements are higher than budgeted.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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CONSOLIDATED Public 

Equity

Retained 

Earnings

Revaluation 

Reserve

Total Budget

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

AT 1 JANUARY 2018  59,438  35,490  4,231  99,159  99,159 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense  -   1,085  7,622  8,707  893 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018  59,438  36,575  11,853  107,866  100,052 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense (1,191)  -  (1,191)  902 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of revalued land and 
buildings 1  -  (41)  41  -   -  

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019  59,438  35,343  11,894  106,675  100,954 

PARENT Public 

Equity

Retained 

Earnings

Revaluation 

Reserve

Total

$000 $000 $000 $000

AT 1 JANUARY 2018  59,431  35,690  4,231  99,352 

Total comprehensive revenue and expense  -   1,142  7,572  8,714 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018  59,431  36,832  11,803  108,066 
Total comprehensive revenue and expense (1,191)  -  (1,191) 

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of revalued land and 
buildings 1  -  (41)  41  -  

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019  59,431  35,600  11,844  106,875 

Accounting Policy

Equity is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into the following 
components:

•  Public equity represents the ownership interest

•  Retained earnings are the profits from current and prior years

•  Property revaluation reserves

Property revaluation reserves

These reserves relate to the revaluation of land, buildings and infrastructure assets to fair value.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

1 This relates to the transfer to retained earnings upon disposal of surplus Whanganui property.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

H
E 

K
Ō

R
ER

O
 T

A
TA

U
   

 

74



CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Consolidated 

Actual 

2019

Consolidated 

Budget 

2019

Consolidated 

Actual 

2018

Parent 

Actual 

2019

Parent 

Actual 

2018

Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:
Receipt of government grants 32,197 31,278 31,561 32,197 31,561

Receipt of student tuition fees 13,069 14,850 14,168 13,069 14,168

Receipt of other ancillary income 2,203 1,990 2,023 2,203 1,965

Interest received 199 296 307 199 307

47,668 48,414 48,059 47,668 48,001
CASH WAS DISBURSED TO:
Payments to employees 26,949 29,095 28,146 26,949 28,146

Payments to suppliers 16,939 16,329 16,388 16,939 16,329

Interest paid  19  -   26  19  26 

Net GST  162 (800)  8  162  16 

44,069 44,624 44,568 44,069 44,517
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,599 3,790 3,491 3,599 3,484

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 574  5,400 13 574 12

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets in 
the nature of investments

9,500  -  11,600 9,500 11,600

10,074 5,400 11,613 10,074 11,612
CASH WAS DISBURSED TO:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3,454 3,190 2,459 3,454 2,459

Purchase of intangible assets 155 2,017 134 155 134

Purchase of financial assets in the nature of investments 7,500  -  15,300 7,500 15,300

Purchase of unlisted shares  -  373 187  -  187

11,109 5,580 18,080 11,109 18,080
NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,035) (180) (6,467) (1,035) (6,468)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
CASH WAS PROVIDED FROM:
Proceeds from Dividends  20  -   -   20  -  

20 0 0 20 0

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  20  -   -   20  -  
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,584 3,610 (2,976) 2,584 (2,984)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 4,780 7,546 7,756 4,178 7,162

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD

5 7,364 11,156 4,780 6,762 4,178

Accounting Policy

The following definitions have been used in the preparation of the Cash Flow Statement:

• Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand, and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.       

• Operating Activities: Transactions and other movements that are not investing or financing activities.

• Investing Activities: Activities relating to acquisition, holding and disposal of fixed assets and of investments, not falling within the 
definition of cash.

• Financing Activities: Activities that change the equity and debt capital structure of UCOL.

Explanations of major variances against budget

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities are $859,000 less than budget due to a delay in property disposals offset by financial assets in 
the nature of investments and the purchase of intangible assets both being less than budget. 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) TO NET CASH FLOWS 
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (1,191)  1,085 (1,191)  1,142 

Add / (Less) non-cash items
Depreciation  3,251  3,243  3,251  3,243 

Amortisation  319  275  319  275 

Share of jointly controlled entity surplus / (deficit)  9 (64)  9 (64) 

Other non cash items  2  -   2  -  

Total non-cash items  3,581  3,454  3,581  3,454 

Add / (Less) items classified as investing or financing activities
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  33  80  33  80 

(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (126)  -  (126)  -  

Total items classified as investing or financing activities (93)  80 (93)  80 

Movements in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in receivables and sundry assets (2,261)  834 (2,261)  777 

(Increase) / decrease in prepayments (211) (279) (211) (278) 

Increase / (decrease) in trade and other payables  754 (284)  754 (284) 

Increase / (decrease) in employee entitlements  137 (771)  137 (771) 

Increase / (decrease) in GST (162) (8) (162) (16) 

Increase / (decrease) in revenue received in advance  3,045 (620)  3,045 (620) 

 1,302 (1,128)  1,302 (1,192) 
NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  3,599  3,491  3,599  3,484 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES

Accounting Policy
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition 
criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

(a) Government equity funding

UCOL considers government equity funding as non-exchange revenue. Equity funding is a government contribution to improve equity 
of access and achievement for Ma–ori and Pasifika students, and students with disabilities. Equity funding is recognised when eligibility 
to receive the funding has been established. UCOL recognises its confirmed allocation of equity funding at the commencement of the 
specified funding period, which is the same as UCOL’s financial year. Government equity funding revenue is measured based on UCOL’s 
funding entitlement. Indicative funding for future periods is not recognised until confirmed for that future period.

(b) Student achievement component (SAC) funding

SAC funding is UCOL’s main source of operational funding from the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC). 

UCOL considers SAC funding to be non-exchange revenue and recognises SAC funding as revenue when the course withdrawal date  
has passed. 

SAC funding is based on the number of eligible students enrolled in the course at that date and the value of the course.

(c) Fees-free funding

The institute considers fees-free revenue is non-exchange revenue and recognises revenue when the course withdrawal date for an 
eligible student has passed. The institute has presented funding received for fees-free as part of government grants.

(d) Other tertiary funding

Other tertiary funding is recognised as revenue when it becomes receivable unless there is an obligation, in substance, to return the 
funds if conditions of the funding are not met. If there is such an obligation, the funding is initially recorded as funding received in 
advance and then recognised as revenue when the conditions of the funding are satisfied.

(e) Student tuition fees

Domestic student tuition fees are accounted for as non-exchange transactions and recognised as revenue when the course withdrawal 
date has passed, which is when a student is no longer entitled to a refund for withdrawing from the course. 

International student tuition fees are accounted for as exchange transactions and are recognised as revenue on a course percentage of 
completion basis. 

The percentage of completion is measured by reference to the days of the course completed at balance date as a proportion of the 
total course months.

(f) Other revenue

Revenue from the rendering of other services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at balance date, 
based on the actual service provided as a percentage of the total services to be provided.

(g) Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts across the expected life of the financial instrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(h) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred, except when the borrowing costs are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset, that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use. In this case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until substantially all activities necessary to prepare the 
qualifying asset for its intended use are complete.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

(a) Government Grants 
SAC funding  22,717  24,880  22,717  24,880 

Ma–ori and Pacific Island equity funding  95  92  95  92 

Disabilities special supplementary equity funding  75  80  75  80 

Other tertiary funding  7,909  7,369  7,909  7,369 

TOTAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS  30,796  32,421  30,796  32,421 

(b) Student Tuition Fees
Domestic student tuition fees  9,118  10,336  9,118  10,336 

International student tuition fees  4,069  3,563  4,069  3,563 

TOTAL STUDENT TUITION FEES  13,187  13,899  13,187  13,899 

(c) Other Revenue
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  126  -   126  -  

ITO revenue  397  249  397  249 

Rent received  268  371  268  371 

Other revenue  1,324  1,278  1,324  1,278 

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE  2,115  1,898  2,115  1,898 

(d) Finance (Costs)/Revenue
Interest earned on bank deposits  177  309  177  308 

TOTAL FINANCE REVENUE  177  309  177  308 

Loans and overdrafts  -   -   -   -  

Finance charges payable under finance leases and hire purchase contracts (19) (26) (19) (26) 

TOTAL FINANCE COSTS (19) (26) (19) (26) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

(e) Materials and Operations
Minimum lease payments – operating lease  211  298  211  298 

Net foreign exchange differences  -   -   -   -  

Fees to principal auditor: audit fees for financial statement audit  123  119  123  119 

Changes in provision for doubtful debts  21  26  21 (32) 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  33  38  33  38 

Educational development costs*  84  1,252  84  1,252 

Educational delivery costs*  7,111  6,417  7,111  6,417 

Occupancy costs**  4,280  3,173  4,280  3,173 

Educational support costs**  3,769  4,376  3,769  4,376 

TOTAL MATERIALS AND OPERATIONS  15,632  15,699  15,632  15,641 

* The decrease in Educational development costs and the increase in Educational delivery costs from 2018 of $1,168,000 and $694,000 
respectively is mainly due to the disclosure of the first year of TANZ eCampus costs of $859,000, in the Educational development costs 
line in 2018. In 2019 TANZ eCampus costs are disclosed under the Educational delivery costs line.

** The decrease in Educational support costs and the increase in Occupancy costs from 2018 of $604,000 and $1,107,000 respectively 
is mainly due to a change in disclosure of internal recoveries. The impact in 2019 is an increase in occupancy costs of $699,000 and a 
correponding decrease in Educational support costs.

Operating Leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over 
the lease term on a straight-line basis in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses.

Operating Lease Commitments – Group as Lessee

UCOL has entered into commercial operating leases on certain property, plant and equipment where it is not in the best interest of the 
group to purchase these assets.  

The term of each lease is determined on a case by case basis, and renewals are at the option of the specific entity that holds the 
lease. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by any of the operating leasing arrangements. The amounts disclosed as 
commitments are based on the current rental rates. 

The future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

Non-Cancellable Operating Lease Commitments and Other Contracts
Within one year 249 228 249 228

Later than one and not later than two years 44 146 44 146

Later than two years and not later than five years 19 26 19 26

Later than 5 years  15  16  15  16 

TOTAL NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 327 416 327 416

No contingent rents have been recognised during the year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

3. REVENUES AND EXPENSES (CONTINUED)
Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

(f) Separately Disclosed Items - Expense
Integration and development - other expenses  15  58  15  58 

Legislation compliance - other expenses  56 -  56 -

Legislation compliance - wages and salaries  17  150  17  150 

Change management costs - wages and salaries  57  53  57  53 

Change management costs - other expenses  91  6  91  6 

Change management costs - minimum lease payments; operating lease  -   95  -   95 

Change management costs - loss on disposal on property, plant and 
equipment

 -   42  -   42 

ITP Road Map - other expenses  232  -   232  -  

New Business Case - other expenses  59  -   59  -  

TOTAL SEPARATELY DISCLOSED ITEMS - EXPENSE  527  404  527  404 

Integration and Development Costs 

Integration costs incorporate the operational costs associated with the consolidation of tertiary education delivery in Whanganui from 
seven campuses to two principal sites. Development costs incorporate the transitional operating costs directly associated with the 
development of an innovative and cross-sector collaborative approach to educational delivery and shared services model for tertiary 
students in Whanganui.

Legislation Compliance 

Legislation compliance costs recognises the estimated value of historic under-payment of leave (refer note 13).

Change Management Costs 

Change management costs were incurred in making adjustments to UCOL’s organisational structure.

ITP Road Map 

ITP Road Map expenses relate to the Reform of Vocational Education.

New Business Case 

New Business Case expenses relate to new commercially sensitive business case development.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

4. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Accounting Policy

Defined contribution and superannuation schemes

Employer contributions to KiwiSaver, the Government Superannuation Fund and other defined contribution superannuation schemes 
are accounted for as defined contribution schemes and are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit when incurred.

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

Wages and salaries  26,887  27,031  26,887  27,031 

Defined contribution plan employer contribution  697  688  697  688 

Councillor remuneration  125  140  125  140 

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE  27,709  27,859  27,709  27,859 

Total remuneration paid to members of UCOL Council is in recognition for directing the affairs of the entity.  

Key management personnel compensation

The key management personnel, as defined by PBE IPSAS 20: Related Party Disclosures, are the members of the governing body 
which is comprised of all members of Council, the Chief Executive, and 7 other members of the Senior Executive Team. The total 
remuneration of members of Council and the number of individuals, on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis, receiving remuneration from 
UCOL are:

2019 2018

Members of Council
Remuneration  125,441  139,645 

Full-time equivalent members  7.50  8.00 

Executive Management
Remuneration  1,758,531  1,890,604 

Full-time equivalent members  8.47  9.02 

TOTAL KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION  1,883,972  2,030,249 
TOTAL FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT PERSONNEL  15.97  17.02 

The full-time equivalent for members of Council has been determined based on the frequency and length of Council meetings  
and the estimated time for members of Council to prepare for meetings.

Key management personnel did not receive any remuneration or compensation other than in their capacity as key  
management personnel.

Councillor remuneration

Councillor remuneration paid or payable during the year was: Consolidated & Parent

2019 2018

$ $

B Vanderkolk (appointed chair 01/05/18)  30,084  26,421 

L Southey (appointed deputy chair 01/05/18)  19,340  17,986 

V Atmore  15,472  15,408 

L Bradnam  15,472  15,408 

L Hapeta  15,472  15,408 

P Jefferies  6,129  15,408 

A Main (appointed 01/05/18)  15,472  10,311 

L French-Wright (appointed 01/05/19 : resigned 30/10/19)  8,000  -  

L Ferguson (resigned 30/10/18)  -   13,155 

M Inglis (resigned 02/05/18)  -   10,140 

TOTAL COUNCILLORS' REMUNERATION  125,441  139,645 

No councillors received compensation or other benefits in relation to cessation (2018: nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Accounting Policy
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. 

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash at bank and on hand  4,269  2,390  3,667  1,788 

Term deposits with maturities less than 3 months at acquisition  3,095  2,390  3,095  2,390 

TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  7,364  4,780  6,762  4,178 

Cash at bank and on hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for varying 
periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the group, and earn interest at the 
respective short-term deposit rates.

The carrying value of cash at bank and short-term deposits with maturities less than three months approximates their fair value.

The total value of cash and cash equivalents that can be used only for a specified purpose as outlined in the relevant trust deeds is 
$2,852,000 (2018: $1,503,000). This relates to international student fees received prior to enrolment and TEC first year fees-free bulk 
funding received prior to contribution to the payment of student fees.

6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS

Accounting Policy
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, unless they are carried at fair value through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense, in which case the transaction costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expense. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, which is the date on which UCOL and the 
group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and UCOL and group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

UCOL and its subsidiaries are party to financial instruments as part of their normal operations. These financial instruments include 
bank accounts, investments, trade payables, trade receivables and loans. All financial instruments are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position and all revenue and expenses in relation to financial instruments are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expense. Except for those items covered by a separate accounting policy, all financial instruments are shown at their 
estimated fair value. 

(a) Receivables

Receivables are recorded at their face value, less any provision for uncollectability.

A receivable is considered uncollectable when there is evidence that the amount due will not be fully collected. The amount that is 
uncollectable is the difference between the amount due and the present value of the amount expected to be collected.

Classification of the financial asset depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired.

(b) Other Financial Assets

Financial assets are classified into the following categories for the purposes of measurement:

• fair value through surplus or deficit;

• loans and receivables; and 

• fair value through other comprehensive revenue.

Further information about other financial assets is disclosed in note 8.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS (CONTINUED)

i) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Surplus or Deficit 

Financial assets at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense include financial assets held for trading. 

A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the short-term or is part of a portfolio 
that is managed together and for which there is evidence of short-term profit taking. 

Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated into hedge accounting relationships for which hedge 
accounting is applied. 

Financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term or part of a portfolio classified as held for trading are 
classified as a current asset.

After initial recognition financial assets in this category are measured at their fair value with gains or losses on re-measurement 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

ii) Loans and Receivables (including cash, cash equivalents, debtors and other receivables)

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance date, which are included in non-
current assets. 

Related party receivables that are repayable on demand are classified as a non-current asset because repayment of the receivable is 
not expected within 12 months of balance date.

After initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any provision for 
impairment. 

Gains and losses when the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

iii) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive revenue and expense are those that are designated as fair value through 
other comprehensive revenue and expense or those that are not classified in any of the other categories above. They are included in 
non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the balance date.

UCOL designates in this category:

• investments that it intends to hold long-term but which may be realised before maturity; and

• shareholdings that it holds for strategic purposes.

After initial recognition these investments are measured at their fair value, with gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive 
revenue and expense except for impairment losses, which are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

On derecognition the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense is reclassified from 
equity to the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

(c) Inventory

Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial basis are measured 
at cost (using the FIFO method), adjusted, when applicable, for any loss of service potential. Inventories acquired through a non-
exchange transaction are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are valued at the lower of cost (using the FIFO 
method) and net realisable value.

The amount of any write-down for the loss of service potential or from cost to net realisable value is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense in the period of the write-down.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT
Student receivables  8,584  6,635  8,584  6,635 

Organisation and other receivables  1,819  1,606  1,819  1,606 

Interest receivables  27  50  27  50 

Prepayments -operating  811  600  807  596 

Prepayments -capital  -  32  -  32 

Inventory  566  422  566  422 

Provision for doubtful debts ( 103) ( 81) ( 103) ( 81)

TOTAL CURRENT  11,704  9,264  11,700  9,260 

NON CURRENT
Related party receivables:

UCOL International Limited  -   -   512  512 

Minerva International Education Limited  -   -   580  580 

UCOL School of International Cuisine Studies Limited  -   -   3,212  3,212 

UCOL Developments Limited  -   -   638  638 

UCOL Holdings Limited  -   -   139  139 

Provision for doubtful debts  -   -  ( 3,635) ( 3,635)

TOTAL RELATED PARTY RECEIVABLES  -  -  1,446  1,446 
Prepayments - operating  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL NON CURRENT  -  -  1,446  1,446 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS  11,704  9,264  13,146  10,706 

Fair Value
Student Fees are non-interest bearing and generally should be paid on enrolment and no later than at graduation, therefore their 
carrying value approximates their fair value. For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables refer to note 18. The fair 
value of receivables is $11,773,000 (2018:$9,656,000).   

Organisation and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on 30 day terms. Therefore, the carrying value of 
organisation and other receivables approximates fair value.  

Assessment for Uncollectability
The provision for doubtful debts is based on a mix of assumptions driven by historical trends and specific review of debtor balances. 
The provision is calculated using a multi-step process. In step one, all debtors who have debt 90 days and over are identified. It is 
assumed all debt from these debtors is unlikely to be collected. In step two, debtors identified in step one are reviewed for evidence of 
any action in progress which is likely to result in the payment of the debt and as a consequence, an opinion is formed as to whether the 
debt is collectable. Step three involves amending the provision to take account of the opinion formed in step two.

Student, organisation and other receivables includes non-exchange revenue relating to next year of $8,331,000 (2018:$7,811,000) and 
includes exchange revenue for 2019 of $640,000 (2018:$430,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

6. RECEIVABLES AND SUNDRY ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The ageing profile of student debt at year end is detailed below:

Gross  

2019

Provn for 

Uncollectibility 

2019

Net 

2019

Gross  

2018

Provn for 

Uncollectibility 

2018

Net 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT
Not past due  8,102  -  8,102  6,304  -  6,304 

0 to 30 days  15  0  15  51  7  44 

30 to 60 days  12  1  11  41  -  41 

60 to 90 days  44  7  37  25  3  22 

90 to 120 days  62  23  39  35  18  17 

> 120 days  350  72  278  179  50  129 

TOTAL STUDENT RECEIVABLES 8,585 103 8,482 6,635 78 6,557

The ageing profile of organisation receivables at year end is detailed below:

Gross  

2019

Provn for 

Uncollectibility 

2019

Net 

2019

Gross  

2018

Provn for 

Uncollectibility 

2018

Net 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

CONSOLIDATED AND PARENT
Not past due  179  -  179  133  -  133 

0 to 30 days  1,371  -  1,371  1,394  -  1,394 

30 to 60 days  27  -  27  3  1  2 

60 to 90 days  93  -  93  7  -  7 

90 to 120 days  9  -  9  9  -  9 

> 120 days  139  -  139  60  2  58 

TOTAL ORGANISATION RECEIVABLES  1,818 0 1,818 1,606 3 1,603

The ageing profile of related party receivables at year end is detailed below:

Gross  

2019

Provn for 

Uncollectibility 

2019

Net 

2019

Gross  

2018

Provn for 

Uncollectibility 

2018

Net 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

PARENT
0 to 30 days  -  -  -  - 0  - 

30 to 60 days  -  -  -  -  -  - 

> 60 days  5,081  3,635  1,446  5,081  3,635  1,446 

TOTAL RELATED PARTY RECEIVABLES 5,081 3,635 1,446 5,081 3,635 1,446

Movements in the provision for uncollectability are as follows:

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

At 1 JANUARY  81 55  3,716  3,748 

Additional provisions made during the year  59 60  59 2

Receivables written off during the period (37) (34) (37) (34)

TOTAL PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 103 81 3,738 3,716

UCOL holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that are either past due or uncollectable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

7. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Accounting Policy

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets held for sale are separately classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than continuing use; that is, where such assets are available for immediate sale and where sale is highly probable. 
These assets are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Any impairment losses for write-downs of non-current assets held for sale are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue 
and Expense. Any increases in fair value (less costs to sell) are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense up 
to the level of any impairment losses that have been previously recognised. 

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held 
for sale.

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised.

As at 31 December 2019 UCOL had $nil (2018: $nil) properties which met the definition of ‘held for sale’ as defined under PBE IPSAS 5: 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. UCOL does however have ownership, leasehold and equitable interests 
in land and buildings which are at various stages of being prepared for sale or transfer. The assets are being prepared for sale because 
they are no longer required for continued use in UCOL’s operations as a result of either educational provision utilising those assets 
ceasing, or the assets are being replaced. The assets being prepared for sale have a carrying value of $6,220,000 at 31 December 2019 
(2018: $6,650,000) and have been reviewed for impairment.

8. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Accounting Policy

Financial Assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs, unless they are carried at fair value through the surplus or 
deficit, in which case the transaction costs are recognised in the surplus or deficit.     

Term deposits

Term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Where applicable, interest is subsequently accrued and added to the 
investment balance. 

At year end, term deposits are assessed for indicators of impairment. If they are impaired the amount not expected to be collected is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT
Term deposits with maturities greater than 3 months and remaining  
duration less than 12 months

 2,500  4,500  2,500  4,500 

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  2,500  4,500  2,500  4,500 

Term Deposits                                                                                                         

Term deposits maturing over three months from date of acquisition are all at fixed rates. The weighted average rate secured as at the 
end of 2019 is 2.99% for the group and the parent (2018: 3.35% group and parent).

The carrying amount of term deposits approximates their fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

9. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Accounting Policy
UCOL has adopted the new group standards, PBE IPSAS 34 to 38, in preparing these financial statements. In adopting these new 
standards, UCOL has updated its accounting policies for its investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Disclosures have 
also been updated for the new disclosure requirements of PBE IPSAS 38.

Subsidiaries

UCOL consolidates in the group financial statements those entities it controls. Control exists where the institute is exposed, or has 
rights to, variable benefits (either financial or non-financial) and has the ability to affect the nature and amount of those benefits from 
its power over the entity. 

Power can exist over an entity if, by virtue of its purpose and design, the relevant activities and the way in which the relevant activities 
of the entity can be directed has been predetermined by UCOL.

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in UCOL’s parent financial statements.

Associate

An associate is an entity over which UCOL has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. 
Investments in associates are accounted for in the group financial statements using the equity method of accounting.

Investments in associates are measured at cost in UCOL’s parent financial statements.

Joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the 
arrangement. Joint control is the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Investments in joint ventures are measured at cost in UCOL’s parent financial statements.

Equity method of accounting in group financial statements

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for in the group financial statements using the equity method  
of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased or 
decreased to recognise the group’s share of the change in net assets of the entity after the date of acquisition. The group’s share of the 
surplus or deficit is recognised in the group surplus or deficit. Distributions received from the investee reduce the carrying amount of 
the investment in the group financial statements.

If the share of deficits of the entity equals or exceeds the interest in the entity, the group discontinues recognising its share of further 
deficits. After the group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional deficits are provided for and a liability is recognised, only to the extent 
that the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the entity. If the entity subsequently 
reports surpluses, the group will resume recognising its share of those surpluses only after its share of the surpluses equals the share of 
deficits not recognised.

2019 2018

BREAKDOWN OF INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES AND FURTHER INFORMATION $ $

Subsidiary
UCOL Holdings Limited    10  10 

Minerva International Limited   100  100 

Breakdown of investment in associates and further information
UCOL has a 16.67% (2018: 16.67%) interest in associate, TANZ eCampus. UCOL’s significant influence is established through its 
representation on the TANZ eCampus Board of Directors, which is equally shared between the shareholder Institutes of Technology 
and Polytechnics (ITP’s). In addition, it is established through the significant transactions of the purchase of services delivered to both 
UCOL and the other shareholding ITP’s.

TANZ eCampus Limited provides collaborative programme development and online delivery platform services for tertiary education. 
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On-line learners enrolled at UCOL access educational delivery, including specialist on-line facilitation, through the TANZ eCampus 
online platform. This is a collaboration between six ITP’s, all of whom have an equal shareholding and board representation in TANZ 
eCampus Limited.

Financial information relating to TANZ eCampus Limited is provided below:

2019 2018

$000 $000

UCOL
Investment in TANZ eCampus Limited (at cost)    1,128  1,157 

Group
Dividends or similar distributions received   (20)  -  

Summarised financial information of associate
Current assets    2,218  4,310 

Non-current assets    5,710  5,523 

Current liabilities    807  2,668 

Non-current liabilities    -   -  

Net assets    7,121  7,165 

Revenue    6,422  5,502 

Tax expense    -   -  

Surplus/(deficit)   (50)  382 

Other comprehensive revenue and expense    -   -  

Total comprehensive revenue and expense   (50)  382 

Reconciliation to equity accounted carrying amount
Net assets    7,121  7,165 

Group's share   16.67% 16.67%

Elimination of unrealised surplus on downstream sale  -   -  

Equity accounted carrying amount    1,187  1,194 

Risk associated with the UCOL’s investment in the associate
Share of contingent liabilities incurred jointly with other investors relating to 
the associate

   -   -  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting Policy

Crown Owned Land and Buildings

Land and buildings held under Crown title have been included in the financial statements. 

The UCOL Council is of the opinion that although formal legal transfer of title for land and buildings in use prior to 1 January 1990 has 
not occurred, it has in substance all the normal risks associated with ownership and accordingly it would be misleading to exclude 
these assets from the financial statements. 

These lands and buildings were first recognised on 31 December 1992.

The measurement basis used for determining the gross carrying amount for each class of assets is as follows:

• Land is measured at fair value, and buildings are measured at fair value less subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.

• Leasehold improvements, plant and equipment, library books, motor vehicles, and computer hardware are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment in value.

Land and buildings with a carrying amount of $75,948,000 (2018: $75,696,000) included in property, plant and equipment are owned by 
the Crown.

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to UCOL and the group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

In most instances, an item of property, plant, and equipment is initially recognised at its cost. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or 
for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and 
losses on disposal are reported net in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. When revalued assets are sold, the 
amounts included in asset revaluation reserves, in respect of those assets, are transferred to general funds.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on the following basis over the estimated useful life of the asset:

• Buildings – 1.0% - 33.3% straight line

• Leasehold Improvements – straight line over the term of the lease

• Computers – 30% - 50% diminishing value

• Motor Vehicles – 25% diminishing value

• Other Equipment – 10% - 50% diminishing value

• Library Books – 10% diminishing value

• Capitalised Finance Lease Assets – straight line over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term (5.6% - 36%).

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year end.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Intangible assets subsequently measured at cost which have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet available for use, are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subsequently measured at cost which have a finite useful life are reviewed  
for impairment at each balance date and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not  
be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and the carrying amount is written 
down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

T
H

E 
N

U
M

b
ER

S

89



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

10. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Value in use for non-cash-generating assets

Non-cash-generating assets are those assets that are not held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

For non-cash-generating assets, value in use is determined using an approach based on either a depreciated replacement cost 
approach, restoration cost approach or a service units approach. The most appropriate approach to use to measure value in use 
depends on the nature of the impairment and availability of information.

Value in use for cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are those assets that are held with the primary objective of generating a commercial return.

The value in use for cash-generating assets and cash-generating units is the present value of expected future cash flows.

Capital Work in Progress

Capital work in progress is calculated on the basis of expenditure incurred and the certified gross progress claim certificates up to 
balance date. 

Work in progress is not depreciated. The total cost of a project is transferred to the relevant asset class on its completion and  
then depreciated.

Capitalised Finance Leases

Finance leases transfer to the group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item. Finance leases 
are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. UCOL has received Ministerial approval for all such leases. 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and 
Expense as finance costs. 

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

At 31 December 2019 the carrying value of plant and equipment held under finance lease was $832,000 (2018: $599,000). The leased 
assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities (note 14).

The group has entered into finance lease agreements for various items of property and equipment. The net carrying amount of the 
leased items within each class of property, plant and equipment is shown below, and the future minimum lease payments under finance 
leases and hire purchase contracts together with the present value of the net minimum lease payments are detailed in note 14.

Capital Commitments

At 31 December 2019 the group had capital commitments of $nil (2018: $nil). 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

CONSOLIDATED
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2019
Land  28,652  -  28,652  -  -  -  -  -  -  28,652  -  28,652 

Buildings  73,510  -  73,510  1,703 (87)  -  - (1,829)  -  75,118 (1,821)  73,297 

Leasehold 
Improvements

 791 (401)  390  41  -  -  - (68)  -  832 (469)  363 

Plant and Equipment  13,793 (10,577)  3,216  1,084 (43)  -  - (701)  -  14,541 (10,985)  3,556 

Capitalised Finance 
Lease Equipment

 1,940 (1,341)  599  670  -  -  - (437)  -  1,265 (433)  832 

Motor Vehicles  929 (648)  281  75 (7)  -  - (83)  -  955 (689)  266 

Library Books  4,582 (3,340)  1,242  140 (5)  -  - (133)  -  4,714 (3,470)  1,244 

Work in Progress  598  -  598 (219)  -  -  -  -  -  379  -  379 

TOTAL PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

124,795 (16,307) 108,488 3,494 (142) - - (3,251) - 126,456 (17,867) 108,589
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2018
Land  26,521  -  26,521  -  -  2,131  -  -  -  28,652  -  28,652 

Buildings  72,413 (3,602)  68,811  1,028  -  5,491  - (1,820)  -  73,510  -  73,510 

Leasehold 
Improvements

 669 (472)  197  312 (42)  -  - (77)  -  791 (401)  390 

Plant and Equipment  13,698 (10,288)  3,410  547 (43)  -  - (698)  -  13,793 (10,577)  3,216 

Capitalised Finance 
Lease Equipment

 1,634 (911)  723  306  -  -  - (430)  -  1,940 (1,341)  599 

Motor Vehicles  863 (563)  300  66  -  -  - (85)  -  929 (648)  281 

Library Books  4,471 (3,207)  1,264  111  -  -  - (133)  -  4,582 (3,340)  1,242 

Work in Progress  630  -  630 (32)  -  -  -  -  -  598  -  598 

TOTAL PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

120,899 (19,043) 101,856 2,338 (85) 7,622 - (3,243) - 124,795 (16,307) 108,488
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

PARENT
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2019
Land  28,007  -  28,007  -  -  -  -  -  -  28,007  -  28,007 

Buildings  73,510  -  73,510  1,703 (87)  -  - (1,829)  -  75,118 (1,821)  73,297 

Leasehold 
Improvements

 791 (401)  390  41  -  -  - (68)  -  832 (469)  363 

Plant and Equipment  13,793 (10,577)  3,216  1,084 (43)  -  - (701)  -  14,541 (10,985)  3,556 

Capitalised Finance 
Lease Equipment

 1,940 (1,341)  599  670  -  -  - (437)  -  1,265 (433)  832 

Motor Vehicles  929 (648)  281  75 (7)  -  - (83)  -  955 (689)  266 

Library Books  4,582 (3,340)  1,242  140 (5)  -  - (133)  -  4,714 (3,470)  1,244 

Work in Progress  598  -  598 (219)  -  -  -  -  -  379  -  379 

TOTAL PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

124,150 (16,307) 107,843 3,494 (142)  -  - (3,251)  - 125,811 (17,867) 107,944
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$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2018
Land  25,926  -  25,926  -  -  2,081  -  -  -  28,007  -  28,007 

Buildings  72,413 (3,602)  68,811  1,028  -  5,491  - (1,820)  -  73,510  -  73,510 

Leasehold 
Improvements

 669 (472)  197  312 (42)  -  - (77)  -  791 (401)  390 

Plant and Equipment  13,698 (10,288)  3,410  547 (43)  -  - (698)  -  13,793 (10,577)  3,216 

Capitalised Finance 
Lease Equipment

 1,634 (911)  723  306  -  -  - (430)  -  1,940 (1,341)  599 

Motor Vehicles  863 (563)  300  66  -  -  - (85)  -  929 (648)  281 

Library Books  4,471 (3,207)  1,264  111  -  -  - (133)  -  4,582 (3,340)  1,242 

Work in Progress  630  -  630 (32)  -  -  -  -  -  598  -  598 

TOTAL PROPERTY, 
PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

120,304 (19,043) 101,261 2,338 (85)  7,572  - (3,243)  - 124,150 (16,307) 107,843
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Revaluations

An independent valuation was obtained to determine the fair value of land and buildings. Fair value is determined by reference to 
an open market basis, being the amount for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a 
knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the valuation date for land and buildings of a non-educationally specific 
nature. Where buildings have been designed specifically for educational purposes they are valued at depreciated replacement cost 
which is considered to reflect fair value for such assets.

Depreciated replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions. Significant assumptions include:

•  The replacement asset is based on the replacement with modern equivalent assets with adjustments where appropriate for 
obsolescence due to over-design or surplus capacity.

•  The replacement cost is derived from recent construction contracts of similar assets and Property Institute of New Zealand cost 
information.

•  For UCOL’s earthquake-prone buildings that are expected to be strengthened, the estimated earthquake-strengthening costs have 
been deducted off the depreciated replacement cost.

•  The remaining useful life of assets is estimated.

•  Straight-line depreciation has been applied in determining the depreciated replacement cost value of the asset.

Non-specialised buildings (for example, residential buildings) are valued at fair value using market-based evidence.

Market rents and capitalisation rates were applied to reflect market value. These valuations include adjustments for estimated building 
strengthening costs for earthquake-prone buildings and the associated lost rental during the time to undertake the strengthening work.

Land and buildings were revalued by G Dowse, independent registered valuer, of the firm Blackmore Group. The effective date of the 
valuation was 31 December 2019, and the total consolidated fair value at that date was $101,517,000 (parent: $100,872,000). 

Residual Values

In 2010 UCOL adopted residual values for various land and buildings which were being prepared for sale or transfer, but which at 
1 January 2010 did not meet the definition of ‘held for sale’ under NZ IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations (the standard which was in effect at that date). Since this date UCOL has continued to adopt residual values (refer note 7 - 
Properties Held for Sale). 

Restrictions on Title

Under the Education Act 1989, UCOL and group is required to obtain consent from the Ministry of Education to dispose of, or sell 
property where the value of the property exceeds an amount determined by the Minister.

11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting Policy

(a) Computer Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 
These costs are amortised over the estimated useful life of the software. 

After initial recognition, separately acquired computer software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment costs.

(b) Course Development Costs

Course development costs relate to development of educational courses and are capitalised when it is probable that future economic 
benefit arising from use of the intangible asset will flow to UCOL.

Following the initial recognition of the course development expenditure, the asset is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

A summary of the policies applied to the group’s intangible assets is as follows: 

Computer Software

Useful Life:  Finite

Method Used:  14% - 24%pa Straight Line

Internally Generated / Acquired:  Acquired

Course Development Costs

Useful Life:  Finite

Method Used:  33.3% - 50% Straight Line, from commencement of course

Internally Generated / Acquired:  Acquired
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge 
for each period is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.

The amortisation period and amortisation method for each class of intangible asset having a finite life is reviewed at each financial 
year end. If the expected useful life or expected pattern of consumption is different from the previous assessment, changes are made 
accordingly. The carrying value of each class of intangible asset is reviewed for indicators of impairment annually.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment exists.

Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense in the year the 
asset is derecognised.

(c) Research Costs

Research costs are recognised as an expense in the surplus or deficit in the year in which they are incurred.

Breakdown of Intangible Assets and Further Information

Consolidated 

Computer 

Software 

Consolidated 

Course 

Development 

Costs 

Consolidated 

Total 

 

Parent 

Computer 

Software 

Parent  

Course 

Development 

Costs 

Parent  

Total 

 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

AT 1 JANUARY 2018
Cost (gross carrying amount)  6,401  41  6,442  6,401  41  6,442 

Accumulated amortisation (5,647) (41) (5,688) (5,647) (41) (5,688) 

OPENING NET CARRYING AMOUNT 754 0 754 754 0 754

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Opening net carrying amount  754  -  754  754  -  754 

Additions  76  58  134  76  58  134 

Disposals  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Amortisation (263) (12) (275) (263) (12) (275) 

CLOSING NET CARRYING AMOUNT 567 46 613 567 46 613

AT 1 JANUARY 2019
Cost (gross carrying amount)  6,477  99  6,576  6,477  99  6,576 

Accumulated amortisation (5,910) (53) (5,963) (5,910) (53) (5,963) 

OPENING NET CARRYING AMOUNT 567  46 613 567  46 613

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Opening net carrying amount  567  46  613  567  46  613 

Additions  241  45  286  241  45  286 

Disposals  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Amortisation (293) (26) (319) (293) (26) (319) 

CLOSING NET CARRYING AMOUNT 515  65 580 515  65 580

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Cost (gross carrying amount)  6,718  103  6,821  6,718  103  6,821 

Accumulated amortisation (6,203) (38) (6,241) (6,203) (38) (6,241) 

NET CARRYING AMOUNT 515  65 580 515  65 580

The intangible assets reported above are acquired assets.

Restrictions on Title

There are no restrictions over the title of any intangible assets, nor are any intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accounting Policy

Trade Payables

Trade payables generally have a 30-day term and are recognised and carried at original payable amount. 

Provisions are recognised for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing when the group has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  

Provisions are reviewed at each balance date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision will be reversed. 

Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.     
  

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

Payables under exchange transactions

Trade payables - Operating 3,939 3,180 3,934 3,175

Trade payables - Capital  324  71  324  71 

TOTAL PAYABLES UNDER EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS  4,263  3,251  4,258  3,246 

Payables under non-exchange transactions

GST Payable  792  954  792  954 

TOTAL TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  5,055  4,205  5,050  4,200 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. The carrying value of creditors and other payables 
approximates their fair value. For terms and conditions relating to related parties refer to note 18.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

13. EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS

Accounting Policy
A provision is made in respect of the UCOL liability for annual leave, sick leave and retirement gratuities.

Annual leave has been calculated on an actual entitlement basis at current rates of pay. 

Sick leave has been calculated based on the expected utilisation of unused entitlement. Retirement gratuities are calculated based on 
the present value of estimated future cash flows determined on an actuarial basis.

This provision is affected by a number of assumptions including expected length of service, attrition rate and salary increase.

The discount rate is the market yield on relevant New Zealand Government Stock at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Revenue and Expense as incurred.

A liability and an expense are recognised for bonuses where there is a contractual obligation or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Presentation of employee entitlements

Sick leave and annual leave are classified as a current liability. 

Retirement gratuities expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current liability. All other employee 
entitlements are classified as a non-current liability.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

Retirement gratuities

The present value of the retirement gratuities depends on factors that are determined on an actuarial basis. Two key assumptions used 
in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will affect the 
carrying amount of the liability.     

Expected future payments are discounted using forward discount rates derived from the yield curve of New Zealand Government 
bonds. The discount rates used have maturities that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. The salary 
inflation factor has been determined after considering historical salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from an 
independent actuary. A weighted average discount rate of 1.42% (2018: 2.07%) and an inflation factor of 3.5% (2018: 3.5%) were used.  
  
EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

Accrued wages and salaries 214 141 214 141

Annual leave 2,597 2,635 2,597 2,635

Sick leave 117 112 117 112

Retirement gratuities 810 712 810 712

TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 3,738 3,600 3,738 3,600

Comprising:

Current portion 3,178 3,069 3,178 3,069

Non current portion 560 531 560 531

TOTAL EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 3,738 3,600 3,738 3,600

Annual Leave (Legislative Compliance)

A provision is provided for historic underpayment of leave. The issues generally relate to entitlements under the Holidays Act 2003 and 
how a range of allowances and entitlements have been interpreted and implemented (refer to note 3(f)).    
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14. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Effective 

interest rate 

(%)

Maturity Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

CURRENT $000 $000 $000 $000

Obligations under finance leases 
(Equipment)

1.98% 2020  314  322  314  322 

Ministry of Education 0.0%  On demand  3,557  3,557  3,557  3,557 

TOTAL CURRENT  3,871  3,879  3,871  3,879 
NON CURRENT
Obligations under finance leases 
(Equipment)

1.98% 2021-2023  525  290  525  290 

TOTAL NON CURRENT  525  290  525  290 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received plus transaction costs 
associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any transaction costs and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense when the liabilities are derecognised, as 
well as through the amortisation process.

Ministry Of Education Capital Injection 
The amounts identified as repayable to the Ministry of Education form part of the Ministry of Education Capital Injection Agreement of 
7 October 1996, Variation No.1 of 28 September 1998 and Variation No. 2 of 30 June 2004. Variation No. 1 required UCOL to compensate 
the Crown for retaining certain lands included in the New City Campus. As the value of these lands was already incorporated into the 
financial statements the compensation is essentially a return of equity. Accordingly Equity was reduced by $1,156,600 and the Current 
Portion of Term Liabilities was increased by $1,156,600 to reflect this obligation. Variation No. 2 provided for UCOL to return land at 
165 Grey Street, Palmerston North to the Crown and in compensation for the Crown to forgive $2,600,000 of the repayable Ministry of 
Education Capital Injection.

The carrying amount of the Ministry of Education Capital Injection is approximate to its fair value because the interest rate is 0% and 
the loan is repayable on demand.

Finance Leases as Lessee

UCOL has entered into finance leases for various items of equipment. The net carrying amount of the leased items within the class of 
plant and equipment is shown in note 10. 

The finance leases can be renewed at UCOL’s option. At the end of the lease term, UCOL has the option to purchase the equipment.  
There are no restrictions placed on UCOL by any of the finance leasing arrangements.

ANALYSIS OF FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

Total minimum lease payments are payable: $000 $000 $000 $000

Not later than one year 328 333 328 333 

Later than one year and not later than five years 536 295 536 295 

Later than five years 0  - 0  - 

TOTAL MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS  864  628  864  628 
Future finance charges (25) (16) (25) (16)

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS  839  612  839  612 

Present value of minimum lease payments are payable:
Not later than one year 314 322 314 322 

Later than one year and not later than five years 525 290 525 290 

Later than five years 0  - 0  - 

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS 839 612 839 612

Current  314  322  314  322 

Non current  525  290  525  290 

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS  839  612  839  612 

Fair Value

The fair value of finance leases is $839,000 (2018: $605,000). The fair value has been determined using contractual cash flows 
discounted based on market borrowing rates at balance date of 1.98% (2018: 2.73%)    
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

15. REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

CURRENT

Government funding 718  139 718  139 

Student fees 11,283 8,823 11,283 8,823

TOTAL REVENUE RECEIVED IN ADVANCE 12,001 8,962 12,001 8,962

Revenue in advance from tuition fees includes both liabilities recognised for domestic student fees received for which the course 
withdrawal date has not yet passed and for international student fees, which is based on the percentage completion of the course. 

Government funding relates to fees-free tertiary study funding. This represents bulk upfront funding received from TEC which has not 
been applied to the payment of student fees. 

16. ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE

Accounting Policy

Revaluations

Land, buildings and infrastructure are revalued at least every three years or whenever the carrying amount differs materially from  
fair value. 

The carrying values of revalued assets are assessed annually to ensure that they do not differ materially from fair value. If there is 
evidence supporting a material difference, then the off-cycle asset classes are revalued. 

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are accounted for on a class-of-asset basis. 

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other comprehensive revenue and expense and are accumulated to an asset 
revaluation reserve in equity for that class of asset, surplus or deficit.       

Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous decrease in value recognised in the surplus or deficit will be 
recognised first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and then recognised in other comprehensive revenue 
and expense.      

Breakdown of Revaluation Reserve

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

At 1 January 11,853 4,231 11,803 4,231

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal  41  -  41  - 

Revaluation of land and buildings  -  7,622  -  7,572 

TOTAL ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE AT 31 DECEMBER 11,894 11,853 11,844 11,803

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increases and decreases in the fair value of land and buildings to the extent that they 
offset one another.

Refer to note 10 Property, Plant and Equipment for further information.
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17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Financial instrument categories
The carrying amounts of financial instruments presented in the Statement of Financial Position relate to the following categories of 
assets and liabilities:

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

FINANCIAL ASSETS
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Cash and cash equivalents and term deposits 9,861 9,277 9,259 8,676

Receivables 10,327 8,210 10,327 8,210

Loans to related parties - - 1,446 1,446

TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 20,188 17,487 21,032 18,332

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST

Trade and other payables 5,055 4,205 5,050 4,200

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557 3,557

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST 8,612 7,762 8,607 7,757

Financial Instruments Risk    
UCOL’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The UCOL Council has 
approved policies to manage these financial risks and to authorise the use of various financial instruments. These policies do not  
allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into. UCOL is risk averse and seeks to minimise exposure from 
financial instruments. 

(i) Market risk

Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
interest rates. Investments and borrowings issued at variable interest rates expose UCOL to cash flow interest rate risk.   

UCOL’s policy is to manage interest rate risk by utilising fixed term interest funding periods. 100% of debt should be in fixed interest 
rate investments for periods of no less than 30 days. Where possible the expiry of funding periods should be spread throughout a 
borrowing period.    

Sensitivity analysis

If interest rates on investments at 31 December 2019 had fluctuated by plus or minus 1.0%, the effect would have been to increase/
decrease the net surplus / (deficit) for the period by $92,000 (2018: $123,000). Interest rates on short term deposits ranged from 0.10% 
to 3.50% (2018: 0.10% to 3.60%).   

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. 

UCOL has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure largely arises from purchases by UCOL’s libraries in currencies other than 
UCOL’s functional currency. 

UCOL believes it’s exposure to currency risk is minimal.     

Other price risk 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. UCOL believes it’s 
exposure to other price risk is minimal. 

(ii) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligation to UCOL causing it to incur a loss. 

UCOL has no significant concentrations of credit risk, as it has a large number of credit customers, mainly students, and it is a policy 
of UCOL to withhold academic results until outstanding fees are paid. With the exception of student fees, UCOL trades only with 
recognised creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that UCOL’s exposure to bad 
debts is not significant.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

In the normal course of business, UCOL is exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with banks, receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets. For each of these, the maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

It is the policy of Council that investment funds (being cash held which is surplus to current requirements, including repayment of 
debt) are invested in accordance with the Education Act 1989 and Public Finance Act 1989 without requiring ministerial approval. This 
policy limits investment deposits with registered banks and public securities to no more than 20% of the total investments held. In 
addition, the policy limits the amount of credit exposure to any one institution or organisation. 

UCOL only invests funds with those entities which have a Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch issuer’s long-term credit rating of 
at least A-. Accordingly, the group does not require any collateral or security to support these financial instruments. There are no 
significant concentrations of credit risk within UCOL. 

UCOL holds no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk.    
 

Credit Quality of Financial Assets

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s, 
Moody’s or Fitch credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:   

Consolidated 

2019

Consolidated 

2018

Parent 

2019

Parent 

2018

$000 $000 $000 $000

Cash at bank and term deposits

AA- 7,886 6,804 7,284 6,202

A+  -   -   -   -  

A 1,975 2,473 1,975 2,474

TOTAL CASH AT BANK AND TERM DEPOSITS 9,861 9,277 9,259 8,676

Loans to related parties

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past  -  - 1,446 1,446

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL LOANS TO RELATED PARTIES  -  -  1,446  1,446 

Receivables

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past 10,327 8,210 10,327 8,210

Existing counterparty with defaults in the past  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 10,327 8,210 10,327 8,210

(iii) Liquidity risk

Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that UCOL will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity 
risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the ability to close out market positions. 

UCOL mostly manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow requirements. UCOL’s objective  
is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans, finance leases and hire  
purchase contracts.     

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities

The table below analyses financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance date to the 
contractual maturity date. Future interest payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating rate of the instrument at balance 
date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.   .
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Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows

Less than  

6 months

6-12  

months

Later than 

1 year

Later than 

3 years

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2019 - CONSOLIDATED
Trade and other payables 5,055 5,055 5,055  -  -  - 

Accrued wages and salaries 214 214 214  -  -  - 

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557  -  -  - 

Finance leases 1,282 1,324 217 270 791 46

TOTAL 10,108 10,150 9,043 270 791 46

2018 - CONSOLIDATED

Trade and other payables 4,205 4,205 4,205  -  -  - 

Accrued wages and salaries 141 141 141  -  -  - 

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557  -  -  - 

Finance leases 612 628 174 157 154 142

TOTAL 8,515 8,531 8,077 157 154 142

2019 - PARENT
Trade and other payables 5,050 5,050 5,050 0 0 0

Accrued wages and salaries 214 214 214 0 0 0

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557 0 0 0

Finance leases 1,282 1,325 218 270 791 46

TOTAL 10,103 10,146 9,039 270 791 46

2018 - PARENT
Trade and other payables 4,200 4,200 4,200  -  -  - 

Accrued wages and salaries 141 141 141  -  -  - 

Ministry of Education capital injection 3,557 3,557 3,557  -  -  - 

Finance leases 612 628 174 157 154 142

TOTAL 8,510 8,526 8,072 157 154 142
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE

Accounting Policy
UCOL is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. 

UCOL is the ultimate parent of the group and controls five entities: UCOL International Limited, UCOL Holdings Limited, UCOL School 
of International Cuisine Studies Limited, UCOL Developments Limited and Minerva International Education Limited. 

Related party disclosures have not been made for transactions with related parties that are within a normal supplier or client/recipient 
relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those that it is reasonable to expect UCOL would have adopted 
in dealing with the party at arm’s length in the same circumstances. Further, transactions with government agencies (for example, 
government departments and Crown entities) are not disclosed as related party transactions when they are consistent with the normal 
operating arrangements between government agencies and undertaken on the normal terms and conditions for such transactions.

Related party transactions required to be disclosed 
UCOL leases, at a $1 rental amount, land and buildings legally owned by the Crown. (2018: $1) 

Further information on the accounting for Crown-owned land and buildings is disclosed in the Statement of Accounting Policies (12(b)) 
under the heading “Critical judgements in applying UCOL’s accounting policies: Crown owned land and buildings.”

During 2018, a family member of one key management member was involved in transactions with UCOL by undertaking a course of 
study. These services were provided as part of a normal customer relationship, and at the discounted cost available to all employees of 
UCOL and their families. The discount provided was $6,004. 

During 2018, a key management member exited UCOL and became a key management member of TANZ eCampus Limited. The 
relationship for both was as a contractor and at arm’s length. 

During 2019 services totalling $28,500 were obtained from Infometrics Ltd, of which Dr Amanda Lynn is a Director. The transaction was 
as a normal part of UCOL’s business and was at arm’s length. 

Further information about key management personnel is disclosed in note 4. Employee Benefits. 

19. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

Reform of Vocational Education
The Minister of Education announced the Government’s decisions on the Reform of Vocational education proposals on 1 August 2019. 
The Education (Vocational Education and Training Reform) Amendment Act 2020 (the Act) was enacted on 24 February 2020 to reform 
the delivery of vocational education in New Zealand.

The Act creates a new Crown Entity, the New Zealand Institute of Skills and Technology (NZIST), and converts all existing institutes of 
technology and polytechnics into crown entity companies, which will be subsidiaries of NZSIT and will take on the operational activities 
of existing institutes of technology and polytechnics. UCOL has prepared its financial accounts on a disestablishment basis, please 
refer to The Statement of Accounting Policies note 1. Basis of Preparation.

COVID-19
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) a pandemic and two weeks later 
the New Zealand Government declared a State of National Emergency. From this the country is at Alert Level 4, and in lockdown. As a 
result, economic uncertainties have arisen which are likely to negatively affect our operations and services.

We describe below the possible effects that we have identified on the tertiary institution as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• Government Tuition Funding, there could be uncertainties around future funding although initial indications from TEC are that 2020 
funding will remain the same.

• Student fees & charges, including the potential loss of current and prospective students due to the disruption and/or pressures 
created by COVID-19.

• The impact on other income, including Industry Training Organisation revenue.

• The direct cost impact of the Alert Level 4 lockdown on salaries for staff, leases or other related costs. 

• The direct cost for developing alternative methods of delivery to students.

• The impact on ongoing short term business operations and medium-long term business operations in the construction sector as a 
result of the Alert Level 4 lockdown may lead to lesser student numbers.

• The impact on non-financial reporting.

• Cost recovery from local employers for full cost recovery courses.

• The value of intangible assets, including those related to course development which can no longer be provided because of the Alert 
Level 4 lockdown.

At this time it is difficult to determine the full effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, and there could be other matters that affect the  
tertiary institution.

H
E 

K
Ō

R
ER

O
 T

A
TA

U
   

 

102



20. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Accounting Policy
UCOL’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.

UCOL is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, the Education Act 1989 
and the Public Finance Act 1989, which impose restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing debentures and 
indemnities and the use of derivatives. In addition there are restrictions in relation to disposing of assets or interests in assets, ability to 
mortgage or otherwise charge assets or interests in assets and granting leases of land or buildings or parts of building.

UCOL manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and general 
financial dealings to ensure UCOL effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern. 
Projects which have significant capital spend are subject to generally accepted financial analysis including net present value, internal 
rate of return and simple payback where applicable.

21. CONTINGENCIES 

Accounting Policy

Contingent Assets

In the event of the Akoranga Education Trust Incorporated (an associate) being liquidated or dissolved, UCOL holds a right to the net 
assets of the Trust. However prior to one of these events occurring the net assets of the Trust could be partly or wholly applied towards 
meeting the objectives of the Trust. Therefore at the present time it is not probable that benefits will flow from the right to the net 
assets of the Trust, nor can the entitlement be reliably measured.

Personal Grievance Claims

UCOL has a number of open personal grievance claims. The quantum of any settlement costs cannot be reliably estimated as at the 
time of printing (2018: $nil). 

Compassionate Grants (Students)

UCOL offers relief of funds through a compassionate grant for enrolled students where unforeseen circumstances beyond a student’s 
control interrupts their course of study. These are approved on a case-by-case basis by the appropriate Dean of Faculty. At 31 
December 2019 UCOL had compassionate grants outstanding to the value of $75,000 (2018: $60,000).  

Le Cordon Bleu New Zealand Institute Limited Partnership (LCBNZIP)

At 31 December 2019 UCOL had a contingent liability for an agreement to pay interest upon receiving notification of certain conditions 
eventuating as detailed in the sale and purchase agreement between UCOL and LCBNZIP. To date UCOL has not received notification of 
the conditions eventuating. (2018: $nil).

Scholarships

UCOL offers scholarships for students. As at 31 December 2019 UCOL has awarded scholarships to students to the value of $23,000 
(2018: $46,000). These scholarships have been offered to students on the provision that they enrol in a qualifying programme at UCOL. 
The scholarships are contingent on the student enrolling so have been treated as a contingent liability. Scholarships in 2019 have been 
offered on the basis that they can be applied once any fees-free period has been exhausted.
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STUDENT SERVICES LEVY 
DISCLOSURE 2019
UCOL charges a compulsory student services fee. This is used to support the delivery of student services as detailed below: 

2019 
Total Revenue  

$000

2019 
Total Expenditure  

$000

2019 
Net Surplus / (Deficit)  

$000

Advocacy and legal advice 30 39  (9)

Careers information, advice and guidance 447 573  (126)

Counselling services and pastoral care 435 558  (123)

Employment information 0 0  -   

Financial support and advice 90 115  (25)

Health Services 67 85  (18)

Media 0 0  -   

Childcare services 0 0  -   

Clubs and societies 0 0  -   

Sports, recreation and cultural activities 0 0  -   

Total 1,069 1,370  (301)

Note: The Student Services Levy varies depending on the individual student’s circumstances, but on average the fee is $448 per equivalent full time student.

Advocacy and legal advice
UCOL has a Student Advocacy and Welfare Coordinator who 

provides support with any welfare and advocacy needs within 

and outside UCOL. This can include support with financial 

hardship, accommodation, StudyLink, Work and Income, 

meetings with faculty, disciplinary meetings, complaints 

processes and explorations of what services are available  

for students.

Health services
UCOL Student Health Services are available at all campuses. 

This ensures students are able to access doctors and nurses 

as required.

Career information, advice and guidance
Support is provided to students both pre-entry to study  

and at preparation for post study. Services include CV  

and interview skills’ development and study and career 

pathway guidance.

Media
UCOL offers support for online student media in all 

programmes, including the maintenance and administration 

of web and social media etc.

Counselling services and pastoral care
Counsellors are available on all campuses to offer individual 

consultations as required. There is also access to specific 

support for Māori and Pasifika students, and a chaplaincy 

service is available to all students.

Childcare services
Childcare facilities are available to parents while studying 

at UCOL campuses. As at March 2014 the UCOL Childcare 

Centres ceased trading; the centres were sold to Lollipops 

Educare as a going concern. Lollipops Educare continues to 

discount fees to support UCOL students.

Employment information
UCOL offers an employment hub to assist students into 

employment post study.

Clubs and societies
The Student Success team have a wide range of clubs and 

initiatives that are available to all students. A full list of these 

is available in the Student Success handbook.

Financial support and advice
Students have access to hardship funds to support their 

needs when required. In addition, compassionate grants are 

issued to students to support their continued study.

Sports, recreation and cultural activities
UCOL supports a variety of orientation events, including 

pōwhiri and student market days. UCOL also organised 

various events for students during the year.

SSL accounting requirements
All income and expenditure associated with the  

services stated above is separately accounted for  

in the accounting system.
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OFFICIAL INFORMATION 
ACT REQUESTS
UCOL fully engages with its commitments under the Official Information 
Act (1982) and makes information available upon request unless good 
reason exists for withholding such information. 

UCOL complies with its legislation obligations to protect official information consistent with the public interest and the 

preservation of privacy. UCOL has established a policy and procedure for dealing with requests for official information in 

accordance with the provisions of the Act.

TOTAL RECEIVED IN 2019: 22

REQUESTS FROM:

Department, government  

organisation or local authority:  14

Company, association or  

incorporated society:  1

Union:  1

Media:  5

Members of public (no apparent affiliation):  1

OUTCOME OF REQUESTS:

Fully responded:  14

Request transferred:  0

Partially responded:  4

Fully declined:  4

Average time to respond:  7.86 working days

Extensions to requests:  1

Additional information requested:  5

Costs set for requests:  0

Ombudsman complaints:  0

Refer to 2018 annual report column’s Interim columns Current Year, Previous year**

** Educational performance results reflect those available as of the 31st January and are interim only. Some student results 

continue to be processed beyond this date and some measures are reliant on final information from other providers. Once 

complete, final results for 2019 are made publicly available by the Tertiary Education Commission. In addition, UCOL will report 

final amounts for 2019 in the 2020 Annual Report.

Refer to 2018 annual report targets with n/a*

*Targets reflect those outlined in the 2019-2021 Investment Plan which was approved by both the UCOL Council and the 

Tertiary Education in 2018. The Investment Plan did not set a performance target for all measures and these have been 

identified in the table above with an “n/a” designation.
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MANAWATŪ

Corner of King and Princess 
Streets, Palmerston North

Private Bag 11-022, 
Palmerston North 4442

P 06 952 7000

WHANGANUI

16 Rutland Street, Whanganui

Private Bag 3020, Whanganui 
4500

P 06 965 3800

WAIRARAPA

143-159 Chapel Street, 
Masterton

P O Box 698, Masterton 5840

P 06 946 2300

HOROWHENUA

160 Oxford Street, Levin

Private Bag 11-022, 
Palmerston North 4442 

P 06 920 2003

UCOL AOTEAROA – NEW ZEALAND

P  0800 GO UCOL (0800 468 265)

International +64 6 952 7000

E  enquiry@ucol.ac.nz 

W ucol.ac.nz


